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Abstract

In 1965, 1966 and 1967 the National
Historic Sites Service contracted the Uni-
versity of Manitoba to excavate at the
site of Lower Fort Garry National His
toric Park, Manitoba. This Hudson's Bay
Company post was occupied by the Com-
pany from 1830 to 1911 after which it
was used as a country club until the
federal government opened it to the
public in 1961. Twenty-two major exca-
vations, four minor excavations and
numerous tests were conducted during
the three-year period. This report is a
summary of that field work with cor-
relation where possible with the docu-
mentary data bearing on each excavation.
The site demonstrated the inaccuracy of
the commonly accepted theory that cut
nails had replaced wrought nails for
general construction purposes by 1800
and a new but as yet vague chronology
for this section of the continent has been
suggested.

Preface

Lower Fort Garry (1K) is located on the
left bank of the Red River 20 miles north
of Winnipeg and five miles south of
Selkirk, Manitoba (Fig. 1). This large
19th and early 20th century Hudson's
Bay Company site is on Lot No. 131 of
St.Andrew’s Parish, and Lot No. 1 of St.
Clement's Parish (Fig. 2). The site is
considered to be bound on the west by
Highway No. 9, although Watson's map
of 1928 (Fig. 2, item 140) indicated a
possible burial ground on Lot 1 of St.
Clement'’s west of the highway.

The University of Manitoba entered
into a contract with the Research Divi-
sion, National Historic Sites Service,
National and Historic Parks Branch,
Department of Indian Affairs and North-
ern Development, for the conducting of
archaeological research on the site for the
period 15 May 1965 to 15 May 1967. A
further contract was negotiated to sup-
port additional research for the period 15
May 1967 to 15 May 1968. These activi-
ties were carried out for the University by
the Department of Anthropology, Dr.
William J. Mayer-Oakes, Professor and
Head. James V. Chism was the Research
Associate charged with direction of the
project.

This report summarizes the field work
carried out over three years and presents
some preliminary observations and discus-
sions. More reports concerning the site
are in progress, including artifact analysis
and additional excavations. Final inter-
pretation will only be possible in an
additional publication.

Specimens, records and reports are
deposited with the National Historic Sites
Service, Ottawa, Ontario.

At this point, the reader requires an
explanation of the philosophy of this
report and its place in the series of
reports related to Lower Fort Garry.
Admittedly, the major aim of this exer-
cise has been to describe and suggest the
placement of certain archaeological fea-
tures in as complete a framework of time
as is possible in the present state of
research on Lower Fort Garry. Although
there are disadvantages in writing and
publishing various segments of a total
study as they become available, the
reader will benefit from the faster avail-
ability of specialized reports. The writer
finds it advantageous to be able to incor-
porate reports which have preceded his
or to offer a few hypotheses knowing
that they will probably be developed in
reports to follow. Final discussion by the
archaeologist will be in response to the
accumulated reports, an advantage to
both the archaeologist and the reader.

One disadvantage has been that the
writer is somewhat unfair to the reader in
his discussion of portable artifacts. The
reader is not supplied with anything
approaching full presentation of basic
artifact data, and statements about dating
ranges are largely unsubstantiated by
reference to specific dating landmarks,
especially when discussing ceramic
objects. Neither is there any attempt to
inform the reader of the full artifact
inventory from each excavation. If cer-
tain artifact categories are obvious by
their absence it is because they were
either not helpful in dating or clarifying
the function of a specific context, or it
has been physically impractical to con-
sider them at this time due to other
pressing laboratory priorities.



The project has operated with the
support of a host of institutions and
individuals. The principal acknowledge-
ment must go to the two contracting
institutions. The Research Division of the
National Historic Sites Service, acting in
the interest of the Canadian public, pro-
vided funds, equipment and services
toward research at the site. The Uni-
versity of Manitoba, on behalf of the
Department of Anthropology, provided
office and laboratory facilities as well as
administrative services for the project.

Two individuals who have been of
major importance to the project were Dr.
W.J. Mayer-Oakes, of the Department of
Anthropology, and Mr. John H. Rick, the
Chief of Research for the National His-
toric Sites Service. Their administrative
guidance was instrumental in the smooth
operation of the project.

The project has benefitted from the
general support given it by Mr. Jervis D.
Swannack, Jr., Senior Archaeologist with
the National Historic Sites Service. In-
deed, the support given the project by the
National Historic Sites Service was so
generous and the cooperation with
Manitoba staff was so close that one
often felt the University and Ottawa
staffs were one.

George Ingram, research historian on
the Ottawa staff, provided innumerable
details and suggestions beyond his pre-
pared reports on the site and one received
a clear impression from working with him
of what teamwork between archaeologist
and historian should involve. Jean-Pierre
Cloutier, ceramics analyst on the Ottawa
staff, spent considerable time and effort
both in Ottawa and on repeated trips to
Manitoba working on cataloguing
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problems with the laboratory staff. lain
Walker and Elizabeth Wylie took time
from their immediate research projects in
Ottawa to advise us concerning the cata-
loguing of clay pipe specimens. Olive
Jones provided the project with valuable
sources and suggestions based on her
work with glass in Ottawa.

The project is deeply indebted to
superintendents Barbara Johnstone and
Norman McQueen and the staff of Lower
Fort Garry National Historic Park. Their
accommodation of the field parties has
always been most satisfactory, despite the
great inconvenience which 18 to 30
people must have been during the busiest
season of the park year.

The project is grateful to Mr.
Bowsfield and Mr. Bovey and their staff
in the Public Archives of Manitoba for
their helpfulness in obtaining research
data. Also Mrs. Shirlee A. Smith,
librarian for the Hudson's Bay Company
has been most kind in supplying the
project with data.

The writer has depended heavily on
the good sense of his field and laboratory
supervisors and acknowledges a personal
gratitude to these individuals over the last
three-year period.

Peter Priess served in the capacity of
field supervisor during all three field
seasons and informally as laboratory
supervisor through the intervening winter
seasons. William Morgan was the second
field supervisor in 1965. They were ably
assisted by Reva Robinson and Barbara
Richards. Virginia Gerelus served as field
supervisor with Priess in 1966. They were
assisted by Bruce Morton and Wing
Chow. Peter Priess was field supervisor in
1967 with the excellent assistance of

Bruce Morton, Leigh Syms and Leo
Pettipas. Joan Campbell was laboratory
supervisor during the 1967 field season.

Project field photographer in 1965 was
James Kepron and James Atkinson served
in this capacity in 1966 and 1967. Frank
Wagner attended to the project needs
during the winter of 1967-68. Donna
Morgan was responssible for a greater
portion of the profile and plan drawings.
Others contributing plans and profiles
were Mari Watson, Signi Hanson, Wenda
Davidson and Peter Priess. lan Cameron
produced an outstanding series of artifact
illustrations for the project before her
accidental death on 22 December 1967.
Another excellent series of illustrations
was executed by Caroline Maas in the
spring of 1968.

Ceramic artifacts were catalogued and
analyzed by Lynn Sussman with cata-
loguing assistance from Katherine Pet-
tipas, Joan Campbell and Dorothy
Martin. Glass was catalogued by Frances
Roback, Susan Robinson and Jeanne
Alyluia. Preliminary analysis was done by
Olive Jones. Metal material was cata-
logued by Linda Rodzen, Peter Priess,
Susan Ogilvey, Mary Lou Miller and Todd
Gates. Peter Priess has provided a pre
liminary analysis of the nails. Miscel-
laneous specimens were catalogued by Jill
Doolin and Peter Priess. Sou Walker
catalogued the clay tobacco pipes from
the 1965 and 1966 excavations. Carol
Virr completed the cataloguing of pipes
and Alison MaclLean has done the
analysis. These people worked long hours
and in many instances had to develop
their own standards of description.

A large number of persons have
worked as excavators on the project and
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their general good attitude and willing-
ness has been appreciated by both the
supervisors and the archaeologist. The
entire crew owes a debt of gratitude to
Miss Anne Matt, whose generous and

excellent meals reflected her years of-

experience, and to Lynn Creighton
‘whose effort marked her as a home
economics student of promise.

The project is indebted to Dr. Stephan
Zoltai and the Canada Department of
Forestry for field and laboratory identifi-
cation of wood samples. They have been
helpful in their interest in the general
outcome of the project.

Finally, | am personally grateful to
Mrs. Frances Ross who has dispatched so
many administrative details for the pro-
ject as well as typing various reports and
early drafts of this report. Barbara
Macintyre and Mildred Clarke typed later
revisions.
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Introduction

Historical Sketch

Construction of this major Hudson's
Bay Company establishment was begun in
the fall of 1830 to replace the Company
post in what is now the city of Winnipeg.
Although it soon became apparent that it
was an unsuccessful location for the
trade, the establishment went through
several periods of expansion associated
with the arrival of British troops in 1845;
the establishment of a large Company
farm and industrial operations in the
mid-1860s; and the arrival of several
Canadian military and paramilitary
groups in the early 1870s. In the 1880s,
activity at the site was considerably re-
duced and most structures were taken
down and removed. The fort housed
several miscellaneous activities during its
final decline in the 1880s, including the
first mental hospital in the new province
of Manitoba. The Company closed down
its store in 1911 after which the fort
served as a country club until 1963, when
it was opened to the public as a National
Historic Park.

Geographic Setting

The geography of Lower Fort Garry may
be tentatively described with reference to
Soils Report No. 5 of the Manitoba Soil
Survey (Ehrlich et al. 1953). One may
expect that exploitation of forested land,
modern alteration of drainage patterns
and modern agricultural practices will
have changed soil patterns from their
19th-century condition. These will be
noted when possible.

Lower Fort Garry is located on a 35
ft. high bank near the foot of the former
St. Andrew’s Rapids of the Central Low-
land Landscape Area. The river bank

bordering the site on the east is classified
(Ehrlich et al. 1963) by the Manitoba
Soils Survey as a soil associate of the
neighbouring Selkirk-Beausejour Subarea;
however, steepness of the bank and lack
of any floodplain makes this classification
seem questionable. The site is on a low
river levee and is characterized by black
soils overlying fine-textured Red River
Clay. The clay is a 35-ft. to 40-ft. thick
calcareous lacustrine deposit containing
scattered granite and dolomitic limestone
boulders. The clay and boulders overlie
the dolomitic limestone Red River For-
mation of the Ordovician.

The fort enclosure and site land south
of the enclosure lie on well-drained soils.
A deeply cut creek south of the enclosure
probably has traces of Riverdale Silty
Clay, a local alluvial soil with a weakly
developed profile. The deeply cut nature
of this creek has probably contributed
considerably to draining the slightly
lower-lying land to the west of the low
levee bordering the river.

The site area north of the enclosure is
characterized by a low gravel ridge over-
lying what appears to be a somewhat less
well-developed and somewhat sandier
black earth. This ridge has probably
contributed to the poorly drained nature
of land immediately west of this point,
although a shallowly cut creek has devel-
oped at the north edge of the site.

The area to the west of the site is
composed of well to intermediately
drained associates of Red River Clays
with spotty occurrences of poorly
drained associates of Osborne Clay. Poor-
ly drained areas are often alkalinized and
degraded, and where uncultivated, today
they may be represented by marshy



meadows such as those which are im-
mediately west of the gravel ridge men-
tioned above.

The pattern of Company land usage
reflects these land forms. As nearly as can
be determined from Ingram’s data, by
inspection of the grounds and archaeo-
logical investigation, nothing was built on
the land side of the levee with the
possible exception of the as yet unlocated
pig sties. An examination of historical
and archaeological maps will also reveal
to the reader that all buildings for live-
stock were placed north of the fort
enclosure on the well-drained gravels.

One may well wonder why the main
establishment was not built nearer the
deeply cut creek where it would presum-
ably have had easier access to the river
and a wider strip of well-drained land.
Less tangible values appear to have oper-
ated in the selection of the somewhat
more imposing site chosen with its sweep-
ing view both up and down the river.
Practicality took precedence again when
the deeply cut creek, which presumably
drained a much larger land area than the
shallow creek to the north, was chosen as
the site of the later brewing and distilling
complex.

It has been noted by Ingram that in
selecting this particular stretch of the
river, the Company governor felt that the
area had agricultural potential with par-
ticular emphasis on sheep ranching. An
examination of soil maps for the Red
River from the present international
boundary to its mouth at Lake Winnipeg
shows few places with as wide a belt of
well to intermediately drained Red River
Clays and with only a spotty occurrence
of poorly drained associates of Osborne
Clay.

It has been proposed by Morton
(1951) and Warkentin (1967) that the
location of 19th-century activity was
along the river because of the dry levees
and accessibility to water for consump-
tion and transportation. Accepting this
thesis for the subject at hand, it appears
that Lord Selkirk should have located his
Red River colony here instead of the low
marshy area now occupied by the city of
Winnipeg.

A review of the Red River census from
the 1840s indicated to the writer that
land under cultivation by settlers near
and in Winnipeg was generally less than
five acres. A small group cultivated about
15 acres and one man was cultivating
between 40 and 60 acres, but this may
have been an earlier Company farm.

In 1857, on an area equivalent to
approximately eight settlers’ lots, the
Hudson's Bay Company had 100 acres
under cultivation without drainage
ditches.

We might assume that the governor
had a sharper eye for land than the earlier
colonizers.

Isolated stands of scrub oak, poplar
and willow can still be seen west of the
present park where modern farming has
not yet removed them. Stunted oak,
poplar, willow, elm and occasionally
white spruce occur on the bank along the
river both north and south of the park
land. The less common elm is taller than
the oak, which suffers from the calcar-
eous nature of the soil. In the creek
bottom south of the fork, relatively larger
elm and oak grow, no doubt due to richer
soils provided by flood deposits. One may
assume from the surrounding wooded
lands that much of the park site was also
wooded prior to the 19th century.

The river bed is cut deeply enough
into the dolomitic limestone so it can be
quarried with relative ease on the site to
provide both stone and lime for construc-
tion.

The poplar stands would have served
well for above-ground building material
but it is difficult to believe that oak in
the immediate area would have been large
enough to have been used for below-
ground and heavy stress members in
anything but very small structures. There
are large oaks to be found in very small
numbers in more recent alluvial situations
as discussed above; however, within a few
miles down the river these stands become
larger. The banks up the river nearer to
Winnipeg support stands of very large, old
oaks, adequate for use in framing larger
structures.

General Condition of the Site

The walls, bastions and six original build-
ings of Lower Fort Garry were extant
when archaeological investigations began
at the site in 1965. The buildings and
three of the bastions had been variously
altered in the 19th and 20th centuries.
Five of the buildings were in the fort
enclosure; an additional building had
been “reconstructed” as a museum, and
the grounds within the fort enclosure had
been disturbed in many areas by flower
beds, greenhouses, water and sewage
lines, power and telephone cables, side-
walks, widening of the original road
within the fort, the construction of the
museum and of a kitchen annex and a
shelter for a York boat, the installation of
a flagpole, outdoor display signs, horse-
shoe pitching pits and the operation of
heavy machinery within the fort.
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INSIDE THE FORT

1 Present entrance to Lower Fort
Garry.

2 Originally men's house, soldiers’
canteen in 1870. Later women's
asylum,

3 Northwest bastion — Company'’s
bakehouse.

4 North gateway.

5 Wooden house, used by Dr. Young,
the prison doctor.

6 Prisoners’ yard.

7 Penitentiary and asylum.

8 Remains of the oven built by
prisoners.

9 Small gateway between bastion and
stockade.

10 Northeast bastion. This has always
been used as a powder magazine.

11 Old storehouse (frame building). This
building lodged soldiers of the Wolseley
Expedition of 1870.

12 Guard room and sergeants’ mess, built
1870 for soldiers of Wolseley’s
Expedition.

13 and 14 East gate pillars.

15 The store deep in the ground in the
centre of this gateway was placed there
in 1883.

16 Southeast bastion — ice house.

17 Position of old tethering posts.

18 Part of south wall where Riel, Lepine
and O'Donohue, with their followers,
clambered over at midnight in 1870.

19 Hudson’s Bay Company'’s second retail
store and fur loft.

20 Foundations of another store.

21 Old ssite of the Lower Fort Garry bell.
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22 Foundations of meat warehouse.
Removed 1882.

23 Flagstaff.

24 Southwest bastion, washhouse and
cookhouse.

25 Foundations of an old stable.

26 The residence. For a time the home of
Sir George Simpson, Governor of
Rupert’s Land.

27 and 28 Old cannon.

29 The bell.

30 and 31 Sundial.

32 Former position of the Company’s

flagpole.
33 Old gateway of inner enclosure.

OUTSIDE THE FORT

101 Lime house (frame).

102 Vegetable garden of penitentiary.

103 Hay yard for cattle.

104 Cattle yard.

105 Ox stable (stone).

106 Horse stable (stone).

107 Cattle stable.

108 Cow stable.

109 Prisoners’ root house.

110 Old pathway to Selkirk.

111 Pathway to the river.

112 Stableman’s house.

113 Path to cattle yard.

114 Penitentiary stockade.

115 Entrance gate to prisoners’ yard.

116 Prisoners’ ice house.

117 Old fashioned turnstile.

118 Stone marking the boundary line
between the parishes of St. Andrew's
(south) and St. Clement's (north).

119 Seat by the Red river.

120 Steps leading down to the river
landing.

121 Pathway to York boats’ landing beach.

122 Men's house and canteen,

123 Blacksmith’s shop (log).

124 Farm Manager's house (log).

125 Engineer Abell's cottage (stone).

126 Grain flailing building (log).

127 Root house (log).

128 Beer cellar (log).

129 Store (log).

130 Malt kiln (stone).

131 Grist mill.

132 Saw mill (log).

133 Dwelling and brewery (log).

134 The creek.

135 The spring well.

136 Landing place for the Company'’s
steamers, Polly, Colville, Chief
Commissioner, etc.

137 Lime kilns (store).

138 Miller's dwelling house (log).

139 Indian camping ground.

140 Supposed position of burial ground of
soldiers of Wolseley Expedition, 1870.

141 Hudson’s Bay Company farm lands.

142 Scene of First Indian Treaty, 1870.

143 Western post marking dividing line
between the parishes of St. Andrew's
and St. Clement's.

144 Hudson's Bay Company farm lands.

145 Indian camping ground.

Burial grounds: The burial grounds for
men at Lower Fort Garry were at St.
Andrew’s church (Church of England)
four miles south, and at Little Britain
(Presbyterian) about a mile south, also
at St. Clement’s (Church of England)
about two miles north (Watson 1928).



2 Plan of Lower Fort Garry published by
Robert Watson in 1928 (Hudson’s Bay
Company, Winnipeg).
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A portion of the site north of the
enclosure had been under cultivation for
gardens. A parking lot was built on part
of this garden area. In recent years heavy
equipment had filled and levelled other
areas north of the enclosure during con-
struction of the museum and parking lots.
A portion of the gravel ridge had been
disturbed by quarrying at some un-
specified time and the entire area had
obviously served as a refuse dump in the
20th century.

The fort land south of the enclosure
was utilized as a golf course and had been
relatively undisturbed except for the
installation of greens and tees and natural
erosion along the deeply cut creek flow-
ing through that portion of the site. One
original building was standing which
probably incorporated its formerly de
tached summer kitchen as an annex.

The river bank bounding the site on
the east appeared relatively undisturbed
except for sewage and water supply in-
stallations. That portion located to the
north was covered by 20th-century
refuse.

West of the enclosure the construction
of a four-lane highway had replaced an
original 19th-century road, so one as
sumed that damage to structures had
been minimized. Indications of a prob-
able burial ground were still to be seen
west of the Canadian National Railway
line, although it was located in a wood lot
and root disturbance was a clear pos-
sibility.

The most serious damage to the ar-
chaeological subsoil had been through
activity associated with the construction
of the new museum and parking lot and
by plowing in the north field. Most other
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disturbance merely constituted a nuisance
for the excavation undertaken in the
three-year period reported here, although
there have been isolated exceptions and
also future excavations may find the
situation more serious.

The survival of the majority of the
site was due to the fort's use as a country
club. Had all land to the north and south
of the fort been broken for farming, the
majority of the building sites would have
been destroyed beyond archaeological
recovery.

Many of the buildings at the fort had
been taken down and moved or sold by
the Hudson's Bay Company. Super-
structure was removed, leaving only foun-
dations, some flooring, cellars, the rotted
sills of log buildings and an occasional
remnant of wall missed in destruction and
protected by slope wash. The remaining
foundations and sills together with con-
temporary documentary material on this
fort and others built by the Hudson’s Bay
Company made it possible to predict with
fair accuracy the missing details of super-
structure. Comparative material was also
close at hand in the remaining buildings
at the fort and buildings of the period
throughout the Red River country.

Excavation Procedure

Investigations were carried out to deter-
mine the archaeological potential of the
site, particularly those portions owned by
the province of Manitoba, whose land
began 200 ft. beyond the north and south
walls of the fort enclosure. An initial
inspection of the site was made using the
original Watson map of 1928 (Fig. 2) and
the David Lee (1965) superposition of
Watson's map over the Dominion survey

map of 1874 (Fig. 3). Lee included an
overlay of certain structures from the
Watson and Dominion survey maps which
demonstrated a general disagreement as
to location and dimensions of buildings.
This comparison was not particularly
helpful since the survey map was a rough
map and was drawn on a very large scale.

A small part of the project’s effort was
directed toward support of immediate
restoration planned for the principal resi-
dence, the fur loft-retail store and the
southwest bastion. An even smaller
amount of time was required for testing
areas prior to their disturbance for pur-
poses of construction or maintenance.

The major portion of the project’s
energy was oriented toward investigating
as wide a range of activity and time as
was possible in three field seasons, with
emphasis on features outside the fort
enclosure. Archaeological examination of
major structures was also emphasized.
These structures represented very nearly
the full time span for occupation of the
fort, as well as many functions. Such an
approach can be justly criticized (Noel
Hume 1969) and the painstaking exam-
ination of secondary structures, fence
lines, and so on, must be done to add
proper detail for interpretation of the
site.

Horizontal control in excavations at
Lower Fort Garry was maintained by the
utilization of a base line surveyed through
the long axis of the site. This line, which
lay along the river side of the fort
enclosure at 40° 50° 20"N., was desig-
nated grid north, and was extended
through the site in 100-ft. intervals
marked with steel pins driven flush with
the surface. The grid system was oriented



parallel and perpendicular to the base
line, and each square of the grid was
described by the north-south and east-
west distance in feet at its southwest
corner from the base line point “zero”
near the northeast bastion. After the
1965 season, the project found it con-
venient to rely less on the grid system and
more on maintaining control through
triangulation of points in the excavation
from points on the base line. This was
particularly convenient when clearly ar-
chitectural features were under excava-
tion.

Nomenclature of excavation units fol-
lowed that required by the National
Historic Sites Service (Rick: 1965). The
largest unit of excavation was the “Opera-
tion.” Such a unit might have been a
building, a portion of a building or a
general area. The operation in turn was
subdivided into ‘““Sub-operations” which
were either culturally significant, opera-
tionally convenient, or both. This might
have been a room within a building, a
building within an area, a series of five-
foot squares or simply a measured por-
tion of a larger area. Vertical control was
maintained by using distinct soil strata. It
was then presumed that such an archaeo-
logical “Lot” could be defined as having
a meaningful cultural context. A lot could
also represent the precise location of a
specific feature, artifact or grouping of
artifacts. In the event of unclearly de-
fined or thick deposits, it was sometimes
useful to utilize mechanical lots of 0.5 ft.
It was required that measurements be re-
corded in tenths of feet, making it neces-
sary to convert to inches when such
units are needed.

3 Dominion Survey of 1874 (Public Archives
of Canada).
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4 Site plan of Lower Fort Garry.
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5 Aerial photograph of Lower Fort Garry
(Department of Mines and Technical Surveys).
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Excavations

Principal Residence

During the 1965 field season, tests were
initiated along the west wall and annex of
the principal residence (Fig. 2; item 26;
Fig. 4; item 1) or "“Big House” at the
request of the restoration architect. The
main structure had been built in 1831-32
and the annex in 1840. The structural
and functional history of the house was
complex (Ingram 1970a). The most
obvious changes to the outside of the
house in 1965 were the addition of a
kitchen at the north end of the main
structure and the building of a wide
veranda, all by the Motor Country Club
in the 20th century.

The house and annex were still stand-
ing structures and archaeological research
was requested to determine original
ground level and to investigate the pos-
sibility of basement window and stair
wells.

Tests carried out in 1965 and follow-
up excavations in 1966 led to unanti-
cipated results. An open areaway was
discovered to have paralleled the west
wall of the Big House. This in turn was
paralleled by a driveway or apron with a
dolomitic limestone rubble base and a
crushed brick and dolomitic limestone
surface. The driveway also paralleled
the north wall of the annex. Salvage
excavations were carried out in 1966
when it was decided to place a steel-
reinforced concrete collar around the
entire house and annex. This led to a
brief and largely inadequate investigation
of earlier veranda alterations, drainage
systems, and the discovery of an out-
house built into the veranda and against
the house wall of the north end of the
main structure. Work directed by Peter
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Priess subsequent to that reported here
has added considerable detail to the
nature of the open areaway, the drive-
way, ground levels, fencing and another
possible outhouse associated with the Big
House.

Areaway
Excavation along the west wall of the Big

House revealed a highly disturbed, stone-
lined areaway paralleling and contiguous
with the west wall of the main structure
(Fig. 6). It was interrupted by the annex
and an L-shaped retaining wall which may
have housed a stairwell into the link
between the main structure and the
annex proper. The probability is very
high that the open areaway ran the entire
length of the structure prior to the 1840
construction of the annex. In apparent
support of this, the arrangement of doors
and windows near the south end of the
wall is similar to that at the north end.
The general configuration of the area-
way was only approximately apparent. It
was roughly 14 ft. wide, as much as 6.5
ft. below original surface and 7 ft. below
1966 surface. It was thought that a slope
led into a 4 ft. wide gravel walkway along
the house wall. It was further thought
that construction of this slope had begun
with an unnecessarily elaborate mortared
stone fill at the north end, and was
quickly abandoned for a more practical
shallow rubble riprapping as work pro-
ceeded south. Later work which will be
reported by Priess showed this to be in
error, afact attributable to the placement
of our profile trenches and to our falla-
cious attribution of all red crushed brick
scattered over the surface of the slope to
the driveway parallel to and contiguous

with the areaway. Priess found that one
concentration of red brick rubble was
associated with an oven which had been
neatly missed by our trenches. He also
found that rather than a riprapped slope,
the original areaway probably consisted
of a series of stepped retaining walls. In
all likelihood the end wall of the areaway
consisted of a single stone thick, steeply
sloped retaining wall. No such stone wall
remained. Evidence of the end wall was
only an earthen cut bank with an 80°
slope which had a slight flare along its
upper margin. This would have been
impossible to maintain as an earthen
slope. This situation was similar to
retaining walls at the distillery, the L-
shaped latrine behind the fur loft-store
and the store on the left bank of the
creek. In all instances, stone was laid
against an almost perpendicular slope.

The lowest layer of fill in the areaway
was an angular gravel and clay mixture.
Its thickness and slope varied according
to the configuration of the underlying
rubble bordering the house. This fill was
roughly level and approximately 0.1 ft.
thick and 4 ft. wide. A ceramic drain 0.62
ft. in diameter covered loosely with dolo-
mitic limestone was found in this strip. A
trench for this drain cut through the
ground outside the north end of the
areaway. Drain tiles of this style would
probably not have been locally available
until the last quarter of the 19th century.
The body of the tile is strikingly similar
to material recovered for the project by
James Henderson at the site of the 1879
to 1910 Doidge Pottery in East Selkirk,
Manitoba some 8 miles from Lower Fort
Garry (Henderson 1970). The 1969 dis-
covery of a dolomitic limestone slab with



6 Areaway along the west wall of the
Big House.
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a 0.1 ft. wide, 0.2 ft. deep cut channel
and another by Priess in 1968 indicate
that an earlier and very different drainage
system was in use while the areaway was
open. Priess has been able to uncover
more details of the earlier system and
suggests that it connected to a system
which ran under the Big House itself. The
remainder of the fill consisted of patches
of black and grey clays, sometimes with
angular and rounded gravels. The angular
gravel was crushed dolomitic limestone
which was probably produced at the fort
quarries, and the rounded gravel probably
came from the gravel ridge north of the
fort enclosure. Flower beds placed on the
filled areaway contained a mixture of fill
and post-fill material to a depth of 1.5 ft.

One can presume on structural
grounds that the areaway was constructed
in 1831 and 1832 at the same time as the
Big House. If the installation of a new
drainage system was the first stage of
filling the areaway and if ceramic tile was
not locally available until 1879, then
archaeological evidence indicated that the
areaway was filled after 1879. This has
now been confirmed by Ingram, who has
found documentary evidence for the
filling of the areaway soon after 1885.
Because of the mixed nature of the fill,
artifacts found in it can only be said to be
pre-1885 material from unspecified areas
of the site, some possibly being from the
gravel ridge north of the enclosure. The
only datable artifact from the fill below
flower bed level was a single hard paste
earthenware sherd, datable in manu-
facture from 1867 to 1890.

Stairwell

The stairwell which led into the link
between the main structure and the
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annex had a 1.6 ft. thick, 6.0 ft. high
mortared rubble north wall with an exte-
rior length of 16.7 ft. set on a 0.5 ft.
plank footing. There was a 0.6 ft. wide,
0.6 ft. high ledge running along the
interior base of this wall. The east end of
this wall abutted the main structure at a
filled-in basement window. The west wall
was 2.1 ft. wide, had an exterior length of
6 ft., had no shelf and its base no plank
footing, and abutted the north wall of the
annex at a filled-in basement window.
The original height of these walls was not
detectable although a post-1885 photo-
graph of this area indicates that they
might have stood two feet above the
ground level of that time.

The west wall of the main structure
served as the east wall of the stairwell and
the 7.8 ft. of annex wall between the
outside of the west stairwell wall and the
northeast corner of the annex served as
the only archaeologically detectable
portion of the south wall of the stairwell.
An old partition line was found by the
restoration architect on the west wall of
the main structure 9.3 ft. from the
abutment at the stairwell wall. A 2 ft.
wide stone slab footing was found cen-
tered on this wall line and extending 9 ft.
to the east wall of the annex. A 0.5 ft.
footing corresponding to the 0.6 ft. shelf
on the north stairwell wall ran along the
south stairwell wall and bridged the 9 ft.
gap to the main structure. Possibly, the
stairwell had north-south running floor
boards and these shelves and footings
acted as joists. The slab footing possibly
supported another wall linking the annex
to the main structure as well. This would
mean that the floor plan enclosed by the
walls would have been L-shaped.

Portable artifacts recovered from
within the stairwell and link included
several 20th-century pharmaceutical bot-
tles made by a post-1904 fully automatic
process. There would have been access to
the link through the open areaway until
the mid 1880s: therefore the assumption
is that the stairwell was probably made of
pirated areaway stone at the time of its
filling.

Driveway and Fences
A 17-ft. wide dolomitic limestone and

brick driveway bordered the upper
margin of the areaway. The surface of the
roadway was 0.66 ft. to 0.83 ft. below
present ground level and appeared to be
continuous with the upper edge of the
slope, although a 20th-century sidewalk
constructed along the upper edge made
the determination of this condition diffi-
cult. At the corner of the annex, the
limestone rubble was continuous with
that observed along the annex wall in
1965. This suggests the possibility that an
earlier brick driveway had a surface which
was below window level at the annex.
Later, a more substantial limestone rub-
ble base may have been added and brick
spread over this. Since a profile has not
been cut at a point more distant from the
annex, it is also possible that one may
find the limestone rubble to have been
the earliest base but to have stopped
short of the annex. Brick rubble observed
under limestone next to the annex in
1965 tests could have been the tailings of
the overcoat at the sides of the road, and
the overlying limestone rubble could have
been a later levelling fill after the base-
ment windows of the annex had been
blocked off. The driveway curved to the
west and paralleled the north wall of



7 The interior of the fort before 1881
(Hudson’s Bay Company, Winnipeg).

the annex and probably extended to the
west gate. The present driveway follows
the annex wall without paralleling the
west wall of the main structure.

A photograph taken about 1881 (Fig.
7) showed the west leg of the driveway.
An 1871 drawing (Fig. 8) indicates the
west leg but not the north leg of the

driveway. Instead, it shows around the
Big House a solid fence broken only by
the front and back gates. Additionally, it
depicts a fence running from the north
fence toward the northwest corner of the
Big House. Another drawing of 1873
(Fig. 9) differs from Figure 9 only by
showing no extra fence running toward

s

the corner of the Big House. The 1881
photo and another dating from sometime
shortly before 1920 (Fig. 10) both show
a fence running north-south in this ap-
proximate position, although by 1920, the
style of fencing appears to have changed
from an elaborate open style to a simple
picket fence. The combined implication
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8 Birdseye view of fort enclosure, 1871
(Public Archives of Canada).

of these historical clues could be that
fencing divided the front and back yards
of the Big House. It could also mean that
an extension of the fencing bordered the
areaway along its western margin either
to prevent accidental falls or easy access,
or both. If a driveway was extended to
the north, such a fence would have
bordered its eastern margin. Later work
by Priess has hopefully clarified some of
these possibilities.

The above-mentioned 1965 tests
concerned with the annex indicated that
dressed stone at the northwest corner
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extended only 0.85 ft. below the extant
surface. A 0.25 ft. layer of grey clay
covered the lower 0.16 ft. of this dressed
stone and the base of a post extended
through this layer and the outer margin
of a builder’s trench and penetrated 9.21
ft. into the underlying undisturbed
yellowish grey clay. This was interpreted
as indicating a former ground level of 0.5
ft. to 0.61 ft. below the 1965 surface.
This level was approximately even
with the top of the sealed annex base-
ment window sill. After the windows had
been sealed this level was overlain by a

0.33 ft. layer of limestone rubble mixed
with clay which extended outward from
the annex wall for two to three feet.
Underlying the northern margins of the
limestone rubble was a 0.16 ft. layer of
bright orange brick rubble. A 0.5 ft. dark
soil layer used as a flower bed was over
these layers in the test area.

The brick and limestone rubble did
not extend further west than the post
near the corner of the annex. It may be
that these rubble layers were associated
with the driveway and that a fence
associated with the post would have



9 Birdseye view of fort enclosure, ca. 1873
(Ottawa Public Library).

shielded this spot from scatterings of road
surfacing. In 1965, there was no historical
data available to the archaeologist to
confirm this. Photos showing the Big
House in 1881 (Fig. 7), before 1911 (Fig.
11), and in the 1920s (Fig. 10) respec-
tively show this segment of fence. The
1881 photograph indicates that the fence
is made of approximately 6 ft. high
pickets and probably functioned as a
screen for the privy. The same photo-
graph appears to confirm the ground level
striking the basement window sills,

Veranda
Explorations on the east, south and north

sides of the Big House revealed stone and
wooden porch supports pre-dating the
veranda built by the Motor Country Club,
All measurements along the east wall
were taken from a chalk line running the
full length of the east wall which had
been set up to compensate for the con-
cave nature of the wall.

Five dressed and eight undressed
stones, ranging in distance from 5.4 ft. to
6.6 ft. east of the chalk line, interpreted
as part of a veranda support system, were
found along the east wall. The veranda
represented would not have been narrow-
er than the maximum measurement.

Some portions of the upper stone sur-
faces were showing above the thin layer
of rubble covering the area. A profile
was cut from the east wall of the Big
House to six feet beyond the fourth
stone from the north. A layer of
mixed fill and rubble overlying black
earth containing some limestone and
wood chips from construction activity
was found to be 0.62 ft. thick at the
stone and to dip toward the Big House
foundation. A sharp dip within 1,5 ft. of
the foundation was interpreted as the
upper margin of the builders’ excavation,
A stone-bottomed trench was found
paralleling the east wall of the house
three feet east of the veranda stone. The

walls of this trench did not appear to cut
through the fill, suggesting that the
trench might have been contemporary
with house construction. The support
stone appeared to have been set into the
fill. Either the stone was added as a later
improvement to the veranda or it was
simply set into construction spoil when
the veranda was added after the main
structure had been completed. The
former alternative has been favoured
because of the discovery of 14 timbers
0.4 ft. by 0.8 ft. set perpendicular to the
east wall of the Big House and underlying
the fill. These timbers were also thought
to be veranda supports. If so, then the fill
was clearly spread over the area after the
veranda was built and the stones would
have been associated with a later con-
struction phase. The distributional pat-
terns of the stones and timbers have no
direct relation to each other; however,
they do both have several instances of
approximately 8-ft. spacings. This would
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10 The Big House, ca. 1920 (Hudson’s Bay
Company Winnipeg).

suggest that they represent an earlier and
a later veranda with wooden and stone
supports respectively. Because an upright
could be set anywhere on a long timber
footing, it is not safe to estimate veranda
width from the timber length.

Three timbers lying against the east
house wall and set into the uppermost
level of fill may be associated with the
stone supports. The northernmost was a
roofing collar 0.18 ft. by 0.55 ft. by 16.4
ft. The other two, along with several other
timbers running east-west, were disco-
vered during new construction and exact
dimensions were not obtained.

A similar situation of stones and
timbers was found along the south wall of
the Big House, where stones were record-
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ed ranging 5.70 ft. to 7.74 ft. from the
wall. The veranda would have been at
least 7.74 ft. wide on this side. Seven
timbers set at right angles to the south
wall were excavated from under the fill
and two timbers were found lying against
the wall in the upper fill. Two timbers
parallel to the south wall were found
below the fill at the southwest corner of
the Big House main structure where a link
between it and the 1840 annex had been
built. There were no timbers where early
photographs showed stairs.

Two timbers perpendicular to the
north wall were uncovered near the
northeast corner. One measured 0.16 ft.
by 0.4 ft. and the other, 0.2 ft. by 0.6 ft.
Both extended northward for an indeter-

minate distance below surface rubble at a
depth of 0.62 ft.

Attempts to uncover any veranda
foundations which might be present on
the north side of the Big House were
largely unsuccessful. A summer kitchen
had been built by the Motor Country
Club on this location and the ground was
heavily disturbed.

A post measuring 0.3 ft. by 0.3 ft. was
found at the intersection of lines parallel-
ing the north and east walls at a distance
of six feet from these walls. It had been
sunk 3.1 ft. into the underlying clay. If
this was a fence post, then either one of
several verandas was only six feet wide or
else it pre-dated any veranda. The same is
true if it was a post for a horse rail. The



11 Fort interior, ca. 1911 (Hudson’s Bay
Company Winnipeg).

width of the earlier veranda on wooden
supports could have been six feet wide or
less. In contrast to this figure, Ingram
(1970a) has noted that in 1851 orders for
veranda timbers specified that no major
timbers be cut shorter than 8.5 ft.

The accumulated evidence seems to
indicate that a narrower than six foot
veranda with wooden supports was re-
built to a no less than 8.5 ft. wide
veranda with stone supports in 1851.

Portable artifacts found had a dating
range overlapping the entire period, and
so contribute nothing to the question.

Veranda Privy
A pit cribbed with tamarack was dis-

covered against the south wall by con-
struction workmen in 1966. Three walls
were of log and the main structure of the
Big House formed the fourth. The pit's
east wall was set flush against the east

wall of a chimney and its dimensions
were approximately 8 ft. by 8 ft. by 6 ft.
deep. The cribbing displayed tenoned
ends on horizontal members and mor-
tising on vertical members at the north-
east and northwest corners. It was not
possible to determine whether con-
struction had been post-on-sill or post-in-
ground. However, a concentration of
artifacts near the bottom along with a
lime concentration and the presence of
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certain unmistakable signs made it very
easy to determine the pit's function as a
privy. lts incorporation into porch con-
struction may have been unique. Cer-
tainly its proximity to the open areaway
to the immediate west and its abutment
against the house would have raised
certain drainage problems. Of course, it is
possible that it post-dated the filling of
the areaway.

Portable artifacts from the pit were
numerous and at least provide some clues
for dating. Although most of the ceramic
material is datable in manufacture be-
tween 1847 and 1867, at least two hard
paste earthenware vessels were datable in
manufacture to 1873. One also presumes
that tableware would be used as long as
possible before discarding it, limiting its
usefulness for precise dating. Several
ceramic fragments were from dolls and
toy tea sets suggesting that a little girl was
among the occupants of the house during
the period represented by the pit fill.
Glass containers, the other major cate
gory of artifact from the pit, suggested
that not only was there a little girl living
in the house, but that a baby was there as
well and that the period represented by
the fill was late despite the early cluster-
ing of ceramic dates. Several Mellin's
Food Company baby food bottles were
found, datable between 1884 and 1928.
There is some confusion about changes in
the company name and it is possible that
1899 might have been the earliest that
the company used the “Mellin’s”’ name. A
“Conrad Budweizer”’ (1877 to 1890) and
a"’Lee and Perrins”’ bottle with “JDS" on
the base (1877 to 1920) also supported a
late terminal date for the pit. Therefore,
it cannot be assumed that the earlier
ceramics mixed throughout suggest an
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earlier use for the pit. The suggestion
would be that in the late 19th century
one kept ceramics but threw away glass
containers much more readily as their
manufacture had become inexpensive.

Ingram (1970a) noted that there was
considerable alteration and construction
around this general part of the house in
1874 anticipating the arrival of the
Hamilton family. He noted that Company
officers from Winnipeg used the house as
a summer residence for their families in
1879, 1880, 1888, and throughout the
1890s, dates and circumstances which
fit the nature and dates of artifacts in
the fill.

One might argue that it would not be
expected that anyone would dig an out-
house so near an open areaway, and that
it was dug after 1885. The proximity of
the post-1885 drainage tile suggests that
this was the anticipated drainage for the
privy to keep moisture away from the
basement wall. Ingram noted that it had
been recommended that an “‘old lean-to
and shed” at the north end of the Big
House should be torn down in 1911, but
there is no record that this was done.
The fact that detailed records kept by
the Motor Country Club did not mention
the destruction of this structure after
1911 might be viewed as negative
evidence for a 1911 filling of the privy.

Annex Basement Floor
Limited investigation was carried out to

determine the nature of the original
flooring in the Big House annex base-
ment. When workmen removed the recent
flagstone flooring, wood fragments indi-
cated the possibility of wooden floor
joists. Careful clearing of this surface near
the southeast corner indicated that the

fragments were oriented north-south and
were spaced 1.5 ft. apart. It was difficult
to judge joist width, but it appeared to be
somewhere between 0.4 ft. and 0.6 ft.
The south wall had been notched to
accommodate these joists; these notches
were 0.5 ft. deep, were on a 2 ft. centre
and were directly in line with joists from
the floor above. No portable artifacts
were recovered.

Prison Yard and Palisade

A portion of the prison yard and palisade
directly east of the penitentiary was
excavated in 1965 (Fig. 4; item 2). The
palisade was reportedly built after June,
1870, to enclose the exercise yard when
this stone storehouse was being used as
Manitoba’s first provincial prison from
1871 to 1877 (Miquelon 1970). The
palisade and yard are listed on the Watson
map (Fig. 2) as item 6. The excavation
was an attempt to determine the con-
struction and state of preservation of the
palisade and to confirm its location. On
the ground, a low ridge could be seen in
the approximate position indicated by
Watson.

A trench and the below-ground por-
tions of the pickets were found as well as
some evidence of the exercise yard en
closed by the palisade (Fig. 12). The
trench varied in width from 2 ft. to 5 ft.
and was 4 ft. to 4.4 ft. deep with slightly
sloping sides and a flat bottom. It had
branches with nc pickets and slightly
shallower lobes extending laterally from
the main trench line at irregular intervals.
The trench cut through the lower portion
of a dark top soil with considerable
limestone gravel near its base; a gravelly
clay stratum which contained lime and
sand which was often but not always at
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12 Plan of the prison palisade.
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13 Profile of the prison palisade.
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its bottom, and finally through a black
undisturbed soil. The trench contained
mixed gravelly fill. Although one was sure
that some of the uppermost portions of
the soil was a sod dressing, a clear
delineation could not be made. Because
the trench cut through all except the
uppermost part of the dark top soil, all
layers except the top one may be inter-
preted as clearly pre-dating June, 1870.

The second layer from the surface
contained mixtures of clay and mortar
and may be interpreted as a mortar
puddle. This probably reflects the relative
dating of nearby construction sites pre-
dating the palisade. The underlying undis-
turbed soil exhibited the characteristic
natural profile for the site.

Pickets found in the main trench
appeared to consist primarily of round
and quadrilateral timbers, but some
appeared to be planks. It was not always
possible to be confident of measurements
reflecting original dimensions; however,
the few “‘planks’ were approximately 0.1
ft. by 0.5 ft.; round pickets ranged
between 0.3 ft. and 0.75 ft. in diameter,
and the quadrilateral pickets, while ir-
regular in shape, were in the same range
of size. They extended to a depth of 4 ft.
where excavated. A sample of the wood
was identified as white oak.

The palisade line had a different con-
figuration than was expected. This can be
seen by a comparison of Figures 2 and
14. Two right angles exist which were not

indicated by Watson in 1926. It is inter-
esting to note, however, that there was an
empty trench in the position indicated by
Watson for that section of the palisade
which he misdrew.

In general, a heavy limestone gravel
layer directly under the sod abuts the
palisade from the inside of its enclosure.
This may reflect (1) an attempt to make
digging out difficult; (2) a desire to
minimize muddy conditions; (3) debris
from a prisoners’ stone-breaking opera-
tion, or (4) all three.

Although recent historic evidence
brought to light by Ingram (1968) indi-
cates that a palisade was erected (or
repaired) for a mental asylum in 1885,
there was no indication of more than one
construction phase noted in excavations.
“Empty” trench lines were checked at
their point of juncture in an attempt to
find whether they were dug at different
times, but no indication of such was
found. Limestone slabs turned on edge
near the penitentiary appeared to retain
gravel within the enclosure at that point.
It was originally thought to be the edge
of a gravelled prison yard. Based on later
observations of gravel walkways this
particular arrangement might suggest a
walkway with containment of the gravel
by upturned slabs set into the ground.
Such a walkway may be seen at the west
end of this same still-standing stone build-
ing.

The palisade is shown in an 1873
drawing (Fig. 9) and a photograph dated
between 1871 and 1880 (Fig. 14). The
height of the palisade was clearly no less
than 10 feet. The palisade has a gable-like
addition to offset the height of the north
wall of the fort where the two intersect
northeast of the penitentiary.
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14 Lower Fort Garry from the northeast,
ca. 1871-80 (Public Archives of Manitoba).

There were few portable artifacts
found at this location, and of the four
datable ceramic fragments found, only
one had a manufacturing date range
which fell within the prison or even later
asylum period. The other dated fragments
had earlier date ranges. The material does
not assume much importance when one
realizes that both the trench fill and other
fill was probably brought in from other
areas. Certainly the gravel 'in the fill
suggests that these contexts are not to be
trusted, since gravel would have to be
from outside the enclosure.
Storehouse-Barracks
Watson (1928) suggests that the store-
house near the east wall of the enclosure
(Fig. 4; item 3) was used as a barracks by
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troops of the 1870 Wolseley Expedition.
Its use as a storehouse (warehouse) was
described by Robinson in 1879
{Miquelon 1970), and Ingram (1970b)
noted that Company correspondence
refers to it as a storehouse. Both Watson
and Ingram indicate that it was moved to
Colvile Landing in 1881.

The date and technique of con-
struction of this building are a problem.
It has been assumed that it was the
structure referred to in Miquelon as being
built in 1870 for accommodation of
troops; however, the dimensions cited for
that building were 24.5 ft. by 50 ft. and
do not conform by any standard with
findings described below. Watson

B b T e ~

described the structure as “frame,” but
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this was also of little assistance since
several techniques may be described by
this term including the so-called “Red
River frame” which is a general term for
several varieties of post-on-sill log con-
struction.

On the ground, the building was indi-
cated by shallow linear depressions form-
ing a large rectangle bisected lengthwise
by another shallow linear depression. it
was in the general area indicated by
Watson's 1928 map.

Photographs show the building clearly.
A photograph of 1871-80 vintage (Fig.
14) and another taken in 1880 (Fig. 15)
show a two and one half storey structure
with weatherboard siding and distinctive
half windows under the eaves. Two draw-



15 Fort enclosure, 1880 (Geological Survey of
Canada).

ings, one of 1871 (Fig. 8) and another of
1873 (Fig. 9), relate the same informa-
tion.

Excavations were oriented toward
determination of accurate location,
dimensions, and construction details. It
was also hoped to recover artifacts, stra-
tigraphic information, or both which
might help clarify its age.

The structural remains found (Fig.
16) were those of the main building
and a more lightly constructed porch-like
structure at the south end. In terms of
location and dimensions, the Watson map
was in close agreement with the in-ground
situation with regard to the main build-
ing, which consisted of a 32 ft. by 72 ft.
foundation with a stone central footing
bisecting the structure along its long axis.
This foundation varied in width from 2.2
ft. to 2.6 ft. and was constructed with a
3.5 ft. deep trench.

Physical stratigraphy was consistent
throughout the area. A thin sod with dark
humus covered the operation to a depth
of 0.2 ft. At the base of this level was a
great deal of fragmented wood. The grain
of the wood fragments was primarily
parallel to the long axis of the building
and was probably from flooring. Deteri-
orated mortar of the foundation began
directly beneath this flooring at an aver-
age depth of 0.2 ft. and cut through a
thin layer of scattered mortar and gravel.
Beneath this appeared a level of dark
loam which was 0.5 ft. thick mixed with
occasional sand. This was underlain by a
second thin layer of scattered mortar,
which became thicker at the north end
and indicated that a mortar-mixing area
was located north of the structure.

Signs of heat were noted near the
north end of the building on both sides of
the central support foundation. The area

noted in the northeast quadrant was a
circular grey discolouration 3 ft. in dia-
meter which began in the second layer and
extended downward to the bottom of
the third layer. The area in the northwest
quadrant was fired red, but was below the
lowermost mortar and must have pre-
dated the building. The final area of heat
noted was another circular grey area 3.3
ft. in diameter occupying the same strati-
graphic position as the one in the north-
east quadrant. The two grey areas prob-
ably indicate stove positions. The red area
was more likely the result of an open fire.

The porch-like extension at the south
end of the building proper added another
12 ft. to the over-all length of the
structure. It consisted of a thin rubble
and mortar footing which overlapped the
edges of the main foundation. The width
of the footing was the same as the
foundation except along their common
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17 Portion of a sketch showing basement
entranceway at east end of fur loft-retail
store (left), 1857-58 (John Ross Robertson
Collection, Metropolitan Toronto Public
Library).
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wall along the south end of the main
building foundation. Here the mortar and
rubble footing ranged in width from 1.0
ft. to 1.5 ft. In this small rectangle were
two heavy limestone blocks set into holes
dug 1.7 ft. deep. The 1880 photograph
and the two drawings discussed above
indicate that stairs might have gone from
both ends of this porch to an upstairs
door.

A number of large limestone blocks
was found near the north end of the
building apparently associated with the
third layer. Although this stone suggested

a porch at this end of the building, no
clear indication of such a structure was
found.

One of the empty trenches associated
with the neighboring prison palisade
passed through the extreme northwest
corner of this excavation. It was outside
the building and cut through the mortar
levels, as had the palisade trench, which
would support the above interpretation as
to the relative ages of these features. A
pre-June, 1871 date of construction for
the barracks-storehouse was suggested by
relative dating.

While excavation demonstrated that
the structure was supported by a stone
foundation with a central footing for
supporting floor joists, that a lighter struc-
ture existed at the south end, and that
floor joisting would probably have had an
east-west orientation to support north-
south oriented floorboards, there was
nothing in the archaeological record
which would have argued for alog super-
structure as opposed to a lighter form of
frame construction. If the building was
approximately ten years old when it was
moved away, it must have been reason-
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ably solid, and no traces of decomposed
lower margins were left behind to provide
the needed clues.

All dated ceramics found pre-dated the
period of the building unless it was built
considerably before 1870. An 1849 to
1877 Lee and Perrins bottle with “ACB”’
on its base was the only dated glass
noted. Again, it appears that the glass
container might be a more sensitive time
indicator than ceramics.

A preliminary nail count has indicated
that of a total of 1,213 nails, 4.95 per
cent were wire, 75.10 per cent were cut
and 19.95 per cent were wrought. As
other structures are discussed, the reader
will see that these are generally consistent
percentages for a building put up in the
late 1860s and taken down in 1881.

Fur Loft-Retail Store
In 1967, testing and excavation was

carried out in the area surrounding the
extant fur loft-retail store located inside
the fort enclosure and near the south
defense wall (Fig. 4; item 4). Work here
pre-dated the planned restoration of that
stone structure. The structure was be-
lieved by Ingram to have been built in
1832 while Governor Simpson was still
living on the site.

Basement Stairwell
An 1871 drawing (Fig. 9) and a sketch of

1857 or 1858 (Fig. 17) show an off-
centre basement entrance in the east end
of the loft-store which could be seen asa
partially filled door from inside the base-
ment of the structure in 1967.

A stone-lined stairwell of dolomitic
limestone was found 7.8 ft. south of the
northwest corner of the fur loft-retail
store. In plan view, the outside di-
mensions were 7.3 ft. north-south by 10
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ft. east-west. The lateral retaining walls
were 2 ft. wide, 3.2 ft. deep at its
maximum depth at the base of its
steps, and consisted of mortared, split-
faced stone and rubble set in a random
pattern and resting on the underlying
steps and on the stone landing at the
bottom of the steps. Height of the re-
maining walls was 3.2 ft.

The 1857-568 drawing shows an in-
clined entranceway cover sloping upward
toward the building, standing well above
ground level. Clearly, then, much of the
lateral wall had been removed.

The landing was a 4.5 ft. square area
immediately outside of and centered on
the filled doorway. It was paved with a
double thickness of limestone slabs, each
being 0.4 ft. thick. As indicated above,
the slabs extended under the lateral re-
taining walls, and under at least the
lowermost of three stone-based steps
descending into the entranceway from
the east. It also extended into the stone-
filled doorway for an indeterminable
distance.

The outside opening for the doorway
was 5.2 ft. from the surface of the stone
floor to the bottom of the outside lintel.
The inside opening was 6 ft. from the
bottom of the doorway to the bottom of
the inside lintel. The outside lintel was
0.22 ft. lower than the inside lintel,
making the bottom of the inside doorway
opening 0.58 ft. below the bottom of the
outside doorway opening. This suggested
that a step was involved within the
doorway fill. No dressed stonework was
found in either the interior or exterior
faces of the opening.

The entranceway steps were repre-
sented by two reasonably discernible
mortared stone step bases and one badly

disturbed base for the head step. The
stones extended under the lateral walls.
The lower two steps had a rise of 0.9 ft.
including the stone base, a layer of
levelling mortar and a wooden tread. The
wooden tread would not have been more
than 0.19 ft. thick. Tread width was more
of a problem. Lowest base was 0.7 ft. and
the middle was 1.5 ft. while no meaning-
ful measurement could be made on the
top step. Horizontal pressures including
frost action might have affected tread
width.

A 2.2 ft. wide by 4.5 ft. deep rubble-
bottomed drainage trench running east
toward the river bank had been cut by
the construction of the entranceway or
was in use at the same time.

Immediately datable portable artifacts
were not recovered from deposits below a
flower bed at this location,

Covered Winter Entrance
Ingram reported verbally that his re-

searches indicated a covered entrance
door to the main floor at the west end.
The door was still extant in 1967 and
paint traces on the wall indicating the
height and width of a covered storm
entrance were recorded in an archi-
tectural survey of the structure by Mr.
Richard Fairweather of the Department
of Indian Affairs and Northern Develop-
ment.

A test at the doorway revealed no
archaeological evidence of the covered
storm or winter entrance.

Troop Latrine
The Dominion Survey of 1874 (Fig. 3), a

sketch of 1871 (Fig. 8) and a sketch of
1873 (Fig. 9) show a small building
directly south of the fur loft-retail store



18 The fort enclosure from the south, as
photographed by H.L. Hime in 1858
(Public Archives of Canada).

which was not present in 1967 (Fig. 4;
item 5).

Negative photographic evidence can at
least add one detail about the structure
itself; it did not stand any higher, and
probably not as high as the defense wall,
since it does not show over the wall in
photographs of the fort taken from the
south in 1858 (Fig. 18) or 1880 (Fig. 15).

A slight depression in this area be
tween the building and the south defense
wall indicated the presence of a filled and
settled pit. The depression was found to
have been a narrow L-shaped dolomitic
limestone lined pit (Fig. 19). The early
illustrations gave no indication of an
L-shape, suggesting that the stone-lined
pit was enclosed within a rectangular
structure. The long leg of the pit ran
parallel to the south defense wall and the
short leg was at right angles to and
abutting the defense wall. Evidence of the

building’s superstructure was missing.
However, the pit had two major struc-
tural subdivisions. The first was a heavily
built section occupying the western end
of the long leg. The second and more
lightly built section occupied the remain-
der of the long leg and the entire length
of the short leg.

The western section of the structure
had outside dimensions of 10 ft. by 16.5
ft. The foundation was 2.2 ft. to 2.7 ft.
thick, and was composed of rubble, split-
faced and squared stone set in uneven
coursing but with considerable in-bowing
due to horizontal pressure. At a point 4
ft. from the inside margin of the west
wall, a row of pickets formed a partition
wall. Brown and black fill with heavy
building stones near its bottom extended
downward to a depth of 2 ft. to 3.6 ft.
Underlying this was a layer of ash and
general refuse to a depth of 5.5 ft. This

was in turn underfain by a 0.3 ft. to 0.6
ft. brown layer, a 0.4 ft. to 0.8 ft. layer
of lime, and a 0.45 ft. to 1.15 ft. brown
organic layer for a total depth of 7.35 ft.
A builder’s trench along the foundation
went down to a total foundation depth of
8.2 ft. below the present surface. The
pickets had been driven into the bottom
three layers of fill but not into undis-
turbed clay below the pit. The picket
partition was clearly an addition made
sometime during the deposition of the
thick ash-refuse layer.

The eastern section consisted of the
remaining portion, of the long leg and the
entire short leg. The north foundation
was 11 ft. to the turn and the south
foundation was 5.5 ft. long to where it
turned. The east foundation was then
15.6 ft. and the west foundation 9.1 ft.
The nature of stonework changed from
the wide and mortared vertical wall of the
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western section to an unmortared or
perhaps lightly mortared retaining wall
with an 85° slope and a fine rubble fill
between the stone facing and the earth
behind. The facing consisted of a single
thickness of squared and split-faced lime-
stone set in uneven coursing which ap-
proached random coursing when large or
small inclusions were made. The rubble
placed behind this facing was to bring
unlike-sized facing stones into line. Also
unlike the other section, slump from
horizontal pressures was practically non-
existent.

Seepage of groundwater limited exca
vation into the fill; however, the same
layer of brown fill that was found in the
top of the western section was traced to a
depth of 5.5 ft. next to the defense wall
before excavation was discontinued. The
bottom 1.5 ft. to 2 ft. of this stratum
contained a mixture of wood fragments,
granite boulders and limestone blocks.

It was found that the defense wall was
only 4 ft. deep where it was abutted by
the pit. Park staff reported that the walil
was normally 6 ft. deep. In addition, it
was found that the retaining walls had
wedge-shaped openings beginning at a
depth of 4 ft. where they abutted the
defense wall. Presumably these continued
to the bottom of the walls and may have
been for drainage.

A 0.2 ft. to 0.5 ft. thick layer of
mortar and rubble was found under the
sod in the area between the long leg and
the defense wall. This would have been
the area included in the structure if it was
rectangular.

At the angle between the defense wall
and the east edge of the east retaining
wall, it could be seen that the two walls
shared a common builder’s trench, indi-

cating that the L-shaped trench was dug
at the time of defense wall construction,
This would have been sometime about
1845 (Miquelon 1970).

The structure most probably func-
tioned as a latrine and refuse pit. The
nature of the organic layer in the western
section indicated the latrine function
most unmistakably. The shallowness of
the defense wall at this point and the
wedge-shaped openings also speak for
drainage systems. No immediate and
necessary rationale occurs to the author
for the two construction types involved
in the two separate sections of the pit.
Possibly the thick mortared rectangle
replaced a collapsed section of earlier
wall. It may have been necessary to build
the wall separating the two sections
simply to add strength to the con-

struction.
The size and nature of the super-

structure was only generally indicated in
the early drawings. A rectangular single-
storied building of uncertain height with
gable ends was indicated, but clear evi-
dence reflecting on superstructure was
not noted in the archaeological record,
although the presence of considerable
mortar and rubble in the angle between
the pit and the defense wall would
suggest that a stone or “half-timbered”
building may have been involved. Seem-
ingly, however, if that were the case, a
foundation beyond the pit would also be
expected. A light stone footing with a
rubble-filled, post-on-sill superstructure
might explain the presence of the stone
detritus without the additional require-
ment of a foundation. Such a footing
could have been removed, although a
slight rubble-filled depression would then
have been expected. Such a depression

was not noted but its absence would be
less disturbing than the absence of a stone
foundation from an all stone structure.

A large number of portable artifacts
were recovered from excavations of this
“latrine.” Mr. H.S. Sprong of Selkirk
recollected placing at least portions of the
dark top layer into a depression in this
area when he was employed by the Motor
Club as a gardener, and 20th-century
material was expected in that layer.

The dated ceramic objects from layers
below the dark upper layer were all of
patterns and companies with manu-
facturing date ranges which could be
consistent with almost any period of the
fort’s history, with dates clustering in the
1846 to 1867 period and no known
20th-century marks or patterns which
could not also have been earlier. How-
ever, glass containers were often clearly
20th century, including a bottle made by
Dominion Glass with April, 1931, regis-
tration date on it from the brown layer
beneath the thick ash-refuse layer. It was
only in the bottommost brown organic
layer, which was not fully excavated, that
no machine-made bottles were found;
however, glass from that layer may still
have only dated back to the 1880s or
1890s. Glass was less plentiful from out-
side the pit and did not present a basis for
dating the rubble found in the angle of
the “L.” Logic would suggest that a
prestigious organization such as a country
club would not have an uncovered out-
house pit on its grounds. Since there is
material deeply deposited in this pit dating
around 1930, some 16 years after the club
was established, it follows that this struc-
ture or a later structure over the same pit
was still standing in 1930. Because it was
an elaborate stone-lined pit, it would have
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20 Southwest bastion, 1847 (Glenbow Alberta
Institute).

been cleaned out whenever it was full
rather than being abandoned for a slightly
new location, a pattern which is still
considered standard today for more
simple facilities. Earlier material from this
elaborate pit is probably lining the river
bottom.

Southwest Bastion and

Adjacent Features

In 1967, excavations were conducted
within and around the extant southwest
bastion (Fig. 4; items 6, 7) preparatory to
planned restoration of this structure.

The bastion was built about 1845
(Miquelon 1970). A drawing of 1846
(Fig. 20) showed the bastion to have
three chimneys. Standing to the north of
the bastion in the same drawing was a
complex of three small structures. The
largest appeared to have been a rect-
angular, single-storied, gabled wooden
building. Next to it was a small rounded
structure and an equally small square or
rectangular stone structure. Each of the
two small structures had a chimney. It
appeared that the rounded one was an
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oven while the square or rectangular one
had the appearance of a small smoke-
house although it might have been a
second oven. There was no documentary
evidence bearing on these three buildings.
Research by Ingram indicated that a large
oven was inside the bastion (Ingram:

personal communication). Excavation
was oriented toward investigation of the
interior oven and the nearby buildings
with general testing of the area likely to
be disturbed in restoration activities.

Smokehouse-Oven Complex
The area within the angle of the south-

west corner of the defense walls was
excavated (Fig. 4; item 7). The stone
foundation of a 128 ft. by 7.8 ft.
structure with a north-south long axis was
located 46.7 ft. north of the bastion
(Fig. 21). The west and south foun-
dations were 1.4 ft. wide by 0.1 ft. deep
and the east and north were 2 ft. wide by
1.0 ft. deep. A layer of yellow clay had
been packed into the area enclased by the
foundations. No other evidence of floor-

ing was found. This was probably the
small stone “square or rectangular” struc-
ture in the 1846 drawing.

Immediately to the east of the foun-
dation was a concentration of rubble and
mortar. This may have been destruction
rubble from the stone building, from the
chimneys, or even from the oven-like
structure in the drawing. Scattered
patches of mortar, rock and wood frag-
ments could have been debris from the
larger building; however, no clear pattern
emerged.

Bastion Interior
The recent flooring placed inside the

bastion by the Department of Indian
Affairs was partially removed in the west
room, in the location of two chimneys in
the 1846 drawing. No evidence beyond a
single, loose, blackened stone was found
which might have related to an oven or
chimney. However, highly decomposed
joists of an earlier floor were found 1.2
ft. below the surface of the recent floor
Traces of six east-west running, 0.7 ft.
wide joists set on 3.3 ft. centres



21 Area north of the southwest bastion with
the smokehouse-oven foundations as viewed
from the bastion.
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were resting in irregularly shallow 0.7 ft.
wide notches on a 3 ft. wide stone apron
ringing the inside of the circular bastion
wall. The apron was only one stone or 0.4
ft. thick as found, although it might have
been disturbed when the new floor was
put in.

Datable portable artifacts were not
observed in a brief survey of the small
collection from either the bastion or the
small complex of buildings: however, in a
universe of 1,016 nails from the location
where the complex of buildings should
have been, 55.20 per cent were cut, 30.90
per cent were wrought and 13.90 were
wire. This sample would be more con-
sistent with construction in the 1850s
rather than the pre-1846 date shown by
the drawing. The shallowness of material
in what was probably a heavily travelled
area may account for this inconsistent
impression.

Troop Canteen
A building south of the fort enclosure

thought to have been a troop canteen
(Fig. 4; item 8) was partially excavated in
1965 and 1967. Watson identified it on
his 1928 map (Fig. 2; item 122) as a log
men’s house and canteen which was torn
down around 1884. Ingram (1965) re-
flected Watson’s opinion, but discovered
data in 1968 which suggested that the log
structure might have been built for the
Canadian government in 1870 (Ingram
1968). The same data referred to a
building built for the government being
sold and moved in 1877 but might not
have been this specific one.

No illustrative material was available
which clearly related to this structure,

On the ground, a long, narrow, raised
outline with undulations perpendicular to
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22 Plan of the troop canteen.
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the long axis could be seen in the location
indicated by Watson,

Excavation uncovered a very frag-
mentary situation (Fig. 22). The north
and south walls were missing and a 22 ft.
to 23 ft. portion of the west wall was also
gone. Measurements taken on the remain-
ing wood gave a length of 82.5 ft. for the
east wall and 60.3 ft. for the west wall.
The building was 15 ft. wide. The oak
sills were 0.7 ft. to 0.9 ft. square. As was
so often the case, these figures represented
the logs’ deteriorated and compressed
dimensions rather than original size.

The northern end of the structure had
been built on a layer of fill composed for
the most part of a mixed clay. Variations
in thickness of this fill suggested that the
northern part of the buildihg was built
over what had been a natural depression
running toward the river. This depression
had been filled with clay to provide a
level construction surface. Thickness of
the fill was greatest at the northeast
corner: it decreased to the west and
eventually disappeared toward the south,

The sills and sub-sill supports had been
laid on this levelled floor. Notches were
cut in the inside edge of the sills appar-
ently to hold the floor joists, which were
set on 3.3 ft. to 10 ft. centres. They were
fastened by clasp-headed wrought nails.
The notches were 0.38 ft. to 0.4 ft. wide
and 0.2 ft. to 0.3 ft. deep. The joists were
probably larger than the above di-
mensions which might represent only the
size of the tenon. No joists were found.
The sills had been packed with clay to
hold them in place. This clay appeared in
profile as a distinct yellowish layer easily
separated from other layers.

The sills had been provided with sup-

port in the form of either a short piece of
timber or a block of limestone. Toward
the northern half of the structure, these
two were alternated with the first one on
the north end being of wood. Location of
these supports was near but never under
the notches for the joists. Toward the
south end of the structure, there was a
breakdown in the alteration between
wood and stone and a decrease in spacing
between them.

The sills were mounded over with a
combination of mortar and grey clay,
which overlaid the yellowish clay. This
sill covering may have been chinking or
mud plastering left behind when the logs
of the superstructure were removed, or
some of it may have been banked against
the sill to help seal the building against
severe winter temperatures. These
mounds aided in approximating the ends
of the building. Perpendicular to the long
axis of the building at about 10 ft.
intervals was a series of six ridges of this
same destruction debris which probably
represented partitions since they overlaid
the artifact-littered surface of the yellow-
ish clay.

A wooden stoop was found along the
exterior of the east wall. It consisted of
north-south running plank fragments laid
on two 0.22 ft. wide by 0.2 ft. thick and
3.5 ft. long east-west running joists
spaced 3.2 ft. apart.

Details of construction gleaned from
the archaeological investigations were
few. The orientation of the structure’s
long axis was north-south and thus the
floor joists would have been east-west.
The sub-sill timber and stone supports
suggested a post-on-sill type of con
struction with each support being under

an upright post. The lack of mortar and
stone detritus further suggested a struc-
ture largely of wood. The building may
have been divided by a series of seven 10
ft. x 15 ft. rooms, if the ridges inside the
building represent partitions. Entrance to
the structure was on the east side where
the stoop was uncovered. Other stoops
may have existed but did not survive; or
only one entrance may have been used in
order to conserve heat in the winter.

If the building was post-on-sill, then
there was probably a series of windows
associated with the uprights, but indi-
cative glass concentrations were absent
from the archaeological record.

A heavy concentration of artifacts,
mostly of a highly miscellaneous nature
was found under the destruction debris.
Again, the dated ceramics pre-dated the
suspected period of occupation. A “Davis
Painkiller” bottle with a high mould line
to the “finish” may date to the 1880s
plus or minus a few years. This might
support the original Watson and Ingram
proposal that the structure was removed
in the 1880s. Datable clay smoking pipes
included two “‘Dixon-Montreal” (1877 to
1894) pipes which would indicate that
the deposition of material was at least as
late as 1877 but most probably later. If
this building was built in the same year as
the troop barracks-storehouse, then one
might expect the two buildings to have
similar nail percentages. This suggestion is
apparently borne out, for a total of 1,811
nails from the canteen was made up of
1.05 per cent wire, 23.52 per cent
wrought and 75.43 per cent cut while the
barracks-storehouse had 4.95 per cent
wire, 19.95 per cent wrought and 75.10
per cent cut nails.
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24 Plan of blacksmith shop I.
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Blacksmith Shops

An excavation was oriented toward re-
covery of structural, functional and
dating information at the location of the
blacksmith shop south of the fort enclos-
ure (Fig. 4; item 9; Fig. 23). Work was
begun here in 1965 and continued in
1966.

Miquelon (1970) and Ingram (1970b)
both repeatedly discuss activities at Lower
Fort Garry which would require a black-
smith. Nevertheless, Ingram (1968) re-
ported that little new structural evidence
of a blacksmith shop beyond window
pane size (7% in. by 8% in.) had been
found to extend the data gathered from
local informants by Watson (1928).
Watson reported the position of the
blacksmith shop (Fig. 2; item 123) and
recollected that it was log. He also noted
an explosion at (accounts do not say in)
the blacksmith shop in 1877, which has
been interpreted by both Watson and
Ingram (1970b) as indicating that the
shop was destroyed at that time. Ingram
was more cautious and allowed for the
possibility of it having been rebuilt.

On the ground observations indicated
a low mound in the approximate position
indicated by Watson.

Excavation revealed two shops, a small
earlier shop separated by a layer of rubble
from a larger, later shop and annex. The
earlier shop has been designated black-
smith shop | and the later shop, black-
smith shop I1.

Blacksmith Shop |

Excavation clearly indicated that black-
smith shop | was an 18 ft. by 20 ft. log
structure (Fig. 24). There was no direct
historical evidence found by Ingram
which bears on the beginning or end date
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of this earlier structure. Certainly, the
activity at the fort of the middle 1840s
would have been impossible without the
aid of a blacksmith: however, it also
seems likely that there would have been a
blacksmith shop from the earliest period

of the fort.
Disaster or rotting of the lower logs

would have been necessary to have forced
the razing of blacksmith shop | before the
construction of blacksmith shop Il, for
had it been a simple matter of needing
more room, the Company could have
accomplished this without dismantling
the old shop. The sleepers and joists of
shop | were below ground level and had
clay banked against the outside. So a
combination of rot and expanded activity
at the fort might have been the factors
leading to itsend. On the basis of activity
at the fort, a date of between 1857 and
1865 is suggested for its replacement.
This was when large-scale farming, ship
building and steam equipment were intro-
duced. This is also the period in which
Ingram (1970b) notes that work was
being done in the shop for the upper fort
as well.

The west or back wall sill was approxi-
mately one foot below the original
ground surface. A contour drop of be-
tween 0.6 ft. and 0.8 ft. occurs from the
back to the front or east wall. This meant
that as a levelling device, the front sill was
probably set into the ground less than 0.5
ft. The sills were squared-off oak timbers.
They displayed an excavated width of
0.85 ft. but decomposition and compres-
sion made the thickness difficult to
measure. One presumes that an original
size would have approximated one foot.
The sills were lapped at the corners, right
over left. It could not be determined

whether the sills were fitted into each
other with square saddles although com-
parative architecture would suggest this
to be the case.

Underlying the corners were diag-
onally oriented planks 0.7 ft. wide, 0.2
ft. thick and 5 ft. long. They did not
appear to be rounded on the underside.
Again, one should suggest that compres-
sion and decomposition would have re-
duced the thickness of these corner sup-
ports.

Fragments of planking underlaid the
east and south sills at irregular intervals,

Floor joists ran north and south, or
the long way of the building which was
not the case with larger or more rect-
angular structures on the site. The joists
had excavated dimensions of 0.5 ft. to
0.6 ft. wide and 0.1 ft. to 0.2 ft. thick.
The easternmost joist would apparently
have been long enough to span the
building and was set on a 2.8 ft. centre
with the east sill. The second joist line
required two sections to span the struc-
ture, the south section being at least 11.5
ft. long, its centre 4 ft. from the centre of
the easternmost joist, and the north
section being 12 ft. long and on a 3.2 ft.
centre with the easternmost joist. The
third joist line was similar to the second
in requiring two sections to make a
complete span. The south section was at
least 10.4 ft. long and centred 3.8 ft. with
the south section of the second joist line.
The north section of the third joist line
was on a 4.2 ft. centre with the north
section of the second joist line. The fourth
joist line was interrupted by the forge.
The south span must have been a 6 ft.
board running between the south wall
and the southern edge of the forge. The
north board was completely missing. Log-



ically, there would have been a 4.8 ft. long
board running between the north wall and
the northern edge of the forge. A thin
layer of crushed brick was found under
and particularly between these thin joists.

Two limestone slabs measuring rough-
ly 2 ft. by 1 ft. by 0.5 ft. were found
approximately 2 ft. south of the north
wall and on either side of the north
section of the second joist line. These
have been interpreted as anvil supports.
They were probably not used as such for
the later shop as they were overlain by
rubble which would have created in-
stability in a later anvil. Also, the west-
ernmost of the two stones was partially
overlaid by a joist of the later shop.

Flooring consisted of east-west run-
ning planks of from 0.5 ft. to 0.6 ft. in
width with the bottom rounded in cross-
section. Such planks reached a thickness
of 0.1 ft. to 0.15 ft. and could be the
by-product of squaring timbers by saw-
ing. Rosehead and clasp head wrought
nails secured them in place with a pattern
of two nails per board ata joist.

A stone forge was built against the
west wall of the shop, its intended size
clearly 8 ft. by 6 ft. A 3.25 ft. deep ash
box was built into it one foot off centre
to the north. The base was 0.5 ft. below
and 1.5 ft. above the floor level of
blacksmith shop I. In general, masonry
was random coursed from carefully cut
but irregularly sized squared and faced
limestone with a rubble-filled interior.

Dressed stone was used occasionally as
general building stone in the forge base.
This was first thought to have indicated
the re-use of stone from another building,
but it is also possible that a mason
dressing stone on the spot for trimming

the forge openings would have been likely
to utilize a reject in the base.

A number of manually mixed, wire-cut
burned clay bricks of slightly different
sizes centreing around 0.73 ft. by 6.37 ft.
by 0.21 ft. were found. Their location
near the forge suggested that they had
been used in the construction of the
forge. Their presence could be taken to
suggest a brick chimney; however, due to
the small number found, it is possible that
they only lined the breast of the forge.

The detection of the area of greatest
heat for the forge allowed us to make
several conclusions. Although the ash box
was off-centre, the fire was centred on
the forge, and so, also, must have been
the breast. The proximity of the forge to
the west wall also suggested that a stone
backing probably separated the fire from
the log wall, meaning that this was an
all-purpose rather than a farrier’s forge.

A 5 ft. wide door at the approximate
centre of the east wall may have been
indicated by three closely spaced sup-
ports under that sill. These supports and
those under the corners suggested that
the superstructure may have been post-
on-sill construction.

As one would expect, there were many
portable artifacts reflecting the general
function of the structure as a blacksmith
shop: however, we will reserve further
specific comment on the functional
aspect of the material for the artifact
reports. The ceramic range of manu-
facture fell within or included the pre-
dicted period for the structure. The
presence of one hard paste earthenware
object with a registration date of 1865
strongly supports the hypothesis that
shop | was used until the great increase in

industrial and agricultural activity in the
mid 1860s. Glass containers were not
plentiful; however, one champagne bottle
appears to have been mould turned sug-
gesting that it could be dated to the latter
part of the 1860s or even in the 1870s. In
a collection of 233 nails, a suprisingly
small sample, wrought nails were 80.70
per cent of the total and cut nails were
19.30 per cent. There were no wire nails.

Blacksmith Shop |1
Blacksmith shop |l was a log structure

and must have been the shop referred to
by Watson in 1928. This later shop (Fig.
25) was clearly an expanded facility built
over the rubble of the earlier shop and
utilizing the same forge for its operation.
The later structure, measuring 26 ft. by
18 ft. lay directly over the west, south
and east walls of the earlier shop, but was
6 ft. longer on the north side. It also
included a 21 ft. by 14 ft. annex, its east
wall being flush with the east wall of the
main structure.

As in the case of the earlier shop, there
is no direct historical evidence of con-
struction details for blacksmith shop II.

The explosion at the blacksmith shop
in 1877 might have spelled the end of the
later shop, but there is no way of
determining this satisfactorily. Certainly
excavation provided no convincing signs
of such a disaster. From documentary
evidence we can only say that there was a
shop which lasted until at least 1877.

As with the earlier shop, the sills of
the main structure were lapped at the
corners, with extra planking reinforcing
the corners as well as the walls at regular
intervals. The joists also ran under the
sills to act as bearing supports.
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25 Plan of blacksmith shop II.
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It appeared that after levelling the
rubble of shop I, the first stage of
construction for the new shop was to set
the joists and plank supports into
trenches and set the sills over them. A
similar “entrenched’ effect might have
been gained by settlement into the un-
stable rubble construction surface. The
joists ranged in size from 0.5 ft. to 0.65
ft. wide and from 0.09 ft. to 0.15 ft.
thick. In a few instances,- the original
outside surface of the tree could be
detected, suggesting that untrimmed logs
have been sawn into planks.

The orientation of shop Il floor joists
and flooring was at right angles to that of
shop |. Also in contrast to the earlier
shop, the entire distance between the east
and west sills was spanned by a single
plank for each joist.

Spacing of the joists was irregular.
From north to south the relation of joists
to sills and to each other may be ex-
pressed as the approximate distance from
centre to centre. The first joist had a 2 ft.
centre with the north sill. The second
joist had a centre of 3 ft. with the first
joist. The third joist had a centre of 3 ft.
with the second joist. The fourth had a
centre of 2.6 ft. with the third. The fifth
had a 2.5 ft. centre, with the fourth. The
sixth had a centre of 2,6 ft. with the
fifth. The seventh had a 4.5 ft. centre
with the sixth, and the eighth a 4 ft.
centre with the seventh, leaving a centre
of less than 2 ft. between the south wall
sill and the eighth joist. There were only
the slightest hints that additional joists
might possibly have existed between the
sixth, seventh and eighth joists. Extra
supports ran under the fifth and sixth
joists where they ended in front of the
forge.

The sub-sill supports ranged in size
from 2.5 ft. to 4.5 ft. in length, 0.5 ft. to
0.8 ft. in width, and 0.2 ft. to 0.5 ft. in
thickness. The corner supports bisected
the angle formed by the lapped sills.
From north to south, the east and west
wall sill supports were set at a 7 ft. centre
to the north sill; the second set of
supports was at a 9.5 ft. centre to the
first set of supports, leaving a measure-
ment of 9.5 ft. to the centre of the south
wall sill. The supports under the north
and south wall sills were in the approxi-
mate centre of those sills, the north one
being less than 0.5 ft. west of centre and
the south one being directly centred. The
sills were depressed over these sub-sill
supports, suggesting that upright struc-
tural members bearing weight were rest-
ing on them,

Sill dimensions as found ranged from
0.75 ft. to 0.95 ft. in width and 0.5 ft. in
thickness. Ignoring the thinness of the
decomposed sills, reconstructed dimen-
sions clustering around the one foot mark
would not be unreasonable for the sills.
The sills extended beyond the corners for
an estimated distance of 1.5 ft. to 3 ft.

This overlap, also present at other
excavated log structures at Lower Fort
Garry, is somewhat puzzling. The most
simple explanation would be that clay
banked against the outside wall for
weatherproofing might have covered such
an otherwise awkward protrusion. If
these long ends were protruding above
ground at the corners, then they were not
only a constant hazard to walking but
were also unusual. To the author’s know-
ledge, no standing structures of the
period in the Red River area display such
unusual corners. Archaeologically, there
was no clear indication that the bottom

sills were set below ground level and that
the overlapped corners were concealed.
However, it would be difficult to support
the proposition that blacksmith shop Il
was of simple lapped-corner construction
because of the upright mortise and tenon
found protected by its proximity to the
forge. The author has seen log structures
using combinations of post-on-sill and
dovetail corners, and while a combination
of post-on-sill and lapped-corner con-
struction is not impossible, the remains of
what might have been a mortise in the
southwest corner would mitigate against
such a combination. It is also possible
that the original thicknesses of the sills
were nearer to their present 0.5 ft.,
thereby presenting less of a stumbling
block, but this seems unlikely too. In
such an event, the mortise would have
gone completely through both sill
members at the corner and such a hole
would have been archaeologically ap-
parent. It is possible that the extensions
themselves were thinned, leaving the sills

. thick, but there is no evidence to back

this proposal.

The north-south oriented flooring of
the main structure was 0.5 ft. to 0.8 ft.
wide and had a found thickness of 0.05
ft. to 0.09 ft. Floorboards were nailed to
the joists with two nails at each joist
using chisel-pointed rosehead and clasp
head wrought nails. Only the sixth joist
was noted to have four nails holding single
boards to the joist. There was no sign of
extra wood at the north and south ends
of the floor for nailing, nor was there any
indication that the floor did any more
than abut the north and south sills. There
appeared to have been some patching
between the first and second joists from
the north.
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26 The mouth of the creek with the fort
enclosure in the background (north),
1847 (Glenbow Alberta Institute).

Although there was a heavy concen
tration of iron oxide scales southeast of
the forge, there was no clear indication as
to the location of the anvil or anvils of
blacksmith shop Il. Possibly a stone base
was present, but the fallen stone from the
destroyed forge might have concealed its
presence so it was inadvertently removed
as rubble. There might not have been a
base except a tree stump as often noted
in comparative blacksmith shops. Al-
though hinges, locks, and other metal
artifacts occurred in the ruins, their
numbers indicated that many were being
made or repaired, so it is not practical to
comment on what ones might have been
used in this building.

The annex to blacksmith shop Il ap-
peared to have been much more lightly
constructed than the main shop structure.
The sills for this 21 ft. by 14 ft. addition
were quite thin as measured. Again, one is
unsure as to just how much thinness is a
result of decomposition and being so near
the surface that all traffic compacted and
scattered it. The oak sills ranged in width
from 0.6 ft. to 1.0 ft. and were as thick as
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0.4 ft. along the west wall. The east sill in
particular appeared to be little more than
a plank with an excavated thickness not
exceeding 0.2 ft. At the corners there was
no extra support, nor was there a sign of
depression of the corners from any super-
structural weight stress. Rather than a
pattern of right sill overlying left sill, the
long wall sills overlaid the short wall sills.
There was some indication that the
corners were half-lapped. The northern
sill at the two northern corners was
longer than the building was wide, which
could mean that there may have been
extensions of this sill similar to those in
the main structure. The southern corners
abutted the main structure and showed
no extensions.

There were no sub-sill supports at any
point, nor did the joists extend under the
sills. This situation would not provide any
support for a post-on-sill superstructure.
Joist and flooring were both about 0.09
ft. to 0.1 ft. thick and were 0.5 ft. to
0.85 ft. wide with most being about 0.7
ft. It would appear that only planks were
used for joists and flooring.

From the juncture of the main struc-
ture to a point 13 ft. north, the relation-
ship of joist and floorboard was a normal
one with spacings between centres of
east-west-running sub-floor members
being 3.5 ft., 3.5 ft., 2 ft. and 2.5 ft. from
south to north respectively. The remain-
der of the floor area consisted of sub-
floor members set edge to edge with the
normal flooring over them. This double
flooring must have been relatively strong
and would have borne considerable
weight.

The north-south running flooring
clearly lapped over the thin sill abutting
the main structure and might have been
lapped similarly at other sills as well,
although this was not clearly preserved.

Interpretation of the annex in terms of
superstructure was very difficult. In con-
trast to the main structure there was
practically no mortar debris associated
with destruction. The foundations had no
characteristics which suggested a post-on-
sill structure. A dove-tailed or saddled log
structure might have been possible. It is
also possible that it was an open-sided



27 The farm manager’s residence looking west.

shed, with a light roof and simple plank
walls nailed to light studding. With the
plank-thin sill along the east (front) wall
it might have been open on that side and
enclosed on the others. However, there
were no angled nails at the sills to suggest
studding for a light frame construction.
Negative evidence at least suggests that it
was not post-on-sill, leading one to an
interpretation of light framing for the
annex. A great deal of “’spill-over” of slag
and charcoal at the west end of the north
wall might have indicated a door at that
location.

As in blacksmith shop |, many port-
able artifacts reflected the function of the
building. However, the ceramics found
either pre-dated or represented the earl-
iest few years of the shop. One can be
reasonably sure that blacksmith shop Il
postdates 1865 and 26 out of 28 datable
ceramic objects were made between 1847

and 1867. Very heavy based ““black’ glass
bottles may date from the 1860s, but
other dating help from glass was lacking.
A single crown bottle cap (post-1892)
was noted as being from the shop, but it
must be made clear that much of the
flooring for this shop was in the grass
roots, therefore contamination from sur-
face material would be easier than in the
earlier, deeper shop. In a total of 1,567
nails, 33.20 per cent were cut, 65.20 per
cent were wrought and 1.60 per cent
were wire. This suggests that the very
high percentage of wrought nails for both
shops somehow reflects the function of
the buildings while the increase in cut
nail percentage from the earlier shop
reflects the dimension of time as does the
appearance of wire nails in the later shop.

Farm Manager’s Residence
In 1967, the project excavated a structure

south of the fort enclosure which was
thought to have been the farm manager’s
residence (Fig. 4; item 10). Its identifica-
tion as such had been made by Watson in
1928 (Fig. 2; item 124). This may well
have been a function of the structure.
However, farming began at the fort in
1857 while a drawing of 1847 (Fig. 26)
indicated that a structure might have
stood there at that date. A “’small house”
was noted to have been built “near the
forge’’ in 1870 (Miquelon 1970), but this
has been taken to mean the troop canteen
discussed above. No direct documentary
evidence bearing on either date of con-
struction or date of destruction was
available.

Evidence recovered in excavation indi-
cated a small log structure with either a
porch or an additional room, two cellars
and a chimney, possibly with a fireplace
(Figs. 27, 28). The actual evidence con-
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28 Plan of the farm manager’s residence.
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sisted of wood flooring, timbers for the
base of a wall, two depressions considered
to be cellars, a stone apron and a chimney
base.

The structure uncovered was 12 ft. by
30 ft. with a north-south long axis. The
squared oak wall sills which were 0.5 ft.
to 0.65 ft. wide by 0.3 ft. to 0.5 ft. thick
had been lapped and pinned at the
corners with the sills extending beyond
the corners.
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The east and west sills were resting on
the ends of the 0.4 ft. to 0.5 ft. wide by
0.3 ft. thick east-west running floor joists.
From north to south and beginning im-
mediately inside the sill, these joists were
set on 4.5 ft.,, 4.5 ft., 5 ft., 5.5 ft., 4 ft.
and 4.5 ft. centres. The north cellar was
situated between the second and third
joists and was bordered by them while
the south cellar, similar to the north, was
between the fifth and sixth joists.

Because the joists began immediately
inside the sills, the north-south running
0.4 ft. to 0.8 ft. wide by 0.1 ft.to 0.15 ft.
thick flooring was supported where it
abutted the north and south walls. This
flooring was pinned to the joists by what
had probably been a pattern of two
rose-head or clasp headed wrought nails
per board at a joist. The joists were
sitting partially buried in a bed of clin-
kers, charcoal and other debris, which



29 Cottage and grain-flailing barn sometime
between 1883 and 1911.

appeared to have come from the neigh-
bouring blacksmith shop and may have
served to improve the drainage under and
around the residence. Some mixed clay,
possibly spoil from cellar excavations, was
also scattered under the flooring system.

The south cellar had an east-west long
axis and was 3 ft. deep. It appeared to
have been disturbed more than the north
cellar and length was difficult to deter-
mine. It was 4 ft. wide and probably had
an original length of 7 ft., but may have
been as long as 8 ft. Wood sheeting on the
sides and near the floor suggested that
this cellar may have been wood lined as

well. The north cellar was 4 ft. by 7 ft.
with an east-west long axis and was 3.25
ft. deep. It also had thin sheets of wood
which appeared to have fallen away from
the side of the pit.

The undressed stone apron located
against the west wall was 2.85 ft. by 4.04
ft. with a north-south long axis. A chim-
ney base of the same size abutted it to
the east. Possibly a fireplace faced onto
the apron but no burned area was detec-
ted. This appeared to be an unusual
heating arrangement because the apron
was against the wall with the chimney
base interior to it.

Although somewhat scattered, joists
and fragments east of the east wall
probably indicated a porch. The areawas
7.5 ft. to 10 ft. by 9 ft. to 10 ft. as found
and probably represented a porch of 8 ft.
by 10 ft. with a north-south orientation
and floorboards 0.8 ft. wide by 0.1 ft.
thick.

A layer of destruction rubble, much of
it chinking from log walls, sealed off the
structure and the refuse-filled cellars.

Excavation did not uncover any
notches for securing uprights for post-on-
sill construction. Although there was suf-
ficient sub-sill support of the east and
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30 Riverfront, sometime between 1883 and
1911 (Hudson’s Bay Company, Winnipeg).

west walls, no such supports were found
under the end walls. There was no clear
evidence for location of doors and win-
dows.

The portable artifacts demonstrate
that the floor and cellar were still open to
deposition at least until the turn of the
century. Dated ceramic manufacturing
ranges were 1833 to 1847 and 1847 to
1867 with clustering overwhelmingly in
the 1847 to 1867 range. No later ceramic
material has been identified from the
building. Glass containers with post-1892,
semi-automatic early crown lips and a
Ponds Extract (sometime in the 1890s)
bottle dated the deposits on the floor and
all but the very bottom layer of the cellar
to the 1890s. The presence of tin con-
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tainers with double crimped seams would
be post-1900, according to our present
understanding of tin container manu-
facturing history.

It would appear that the super-
structure may have been torn down in the
1880s if one can assume the glass con-
tainers were thrown away soon after use
in at least the last quarter of the 19th
century. If such was the case, then large
areas of the flooring and the cellar pits
had to remain open until at least the turn
of the century. Considering that this part
of the fort grounds was used as a cavalry
encampment about 1911 and was used as
a golf course after 1913, it may be
feasible to suggest that a log super-
structure was torn down in the 1880s,

but that the chinking was allowed to rest
over the wall sill rather than be levelled
immediately. Later debris, including per-
haps that of a post-1900 military encamp-
ment, was allowed to gather around and
in the cellars. When the ground was
levelled and sodded for a golf course, the
mortar ridges on the sills were used to
level the cellars and cover the wooden
flooring. Despite later deposition, the nail
type ratios were consistent with a mid-
century construction date at Lower Fort
Garry. Of 712 nails, 25.60 per cent were
cut, 73.70 per cent were wrought and
0.70 per cent were wire. The wire nails
were consistent with a date of destruction
in the last quarter of the 19th century or
later. The extremely high percentage of



31 Grain-flailing barn looking north over the
manager’s residence, blacksmith shops
and troop canteen to the fort enclosure.
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wrought nails would tend to support the
proposition that the building was already
standing in the mid 1840s as was sug-
gested above. Of course it is always
possible that some quirk of historical
events led to the use of so many wrought
nails at a later date.

Grain-Flailing Barn

One excavation in 1967 was on the
foundation and floor area of a building
thought to have been the grain-flailing
barn (Fig. 4; item 11). Watson's map
showed a building in the area between the
fort enclosure and the creek area with an
east-west long axis (Fig. 2; item 126), and
described it as a log grain-flailing barn. He
also declared 1911 as its date of destruc-
tion. Two photographs (Figs. 29, 30)
dating sometime between 1883 and 1911
showed a gabled, wooden, barn-like build-
ing with vertical siding in this location
but unlike Watson's plan it had a north-
south long axis. A large door was shown
on the north end and a smaller door
appeared midway along the east wall.

On the ground it was not possible to
see where the building had stood; how-
ever, excavations uncovered an almost
completely destroyed stone footing (Fig.
31). The estimated building size was
81.6 ft. by 23.5 ft. with a north-south
long axis. The foundation was approxi-
mately 2 ft. wide and no more than one
course as indicated by the one small
patch of mortared stone still remaining
on the south end.

There was no sign of flooring other
than two patches of charred logs, one of
which was lying diagonally to the long
axis. The diagonally lying wood was in a
burned area which suggested that refuse
from the building had been piled here and
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burned. The other patch was oriented
parallel to the barn’s long axis but was in
no pattern suggestive of flooring.

A thin, intermittent layer of manure
was found overlying the destroyed foot-
ing and over much of the floor area, while
a thick lens of it was found outside the
west wall. It is possible that the flailing
barn was later used for housing stock.

There was no indication of super-
structure found during excavations. The
building could have been of either log or
light frame construction, although a
cache of framing pins found near the
southwest corner suggested only that
construction had utilized heavy timber.

Portable artifacts were not numerous:
however, tin containers with soldered
seams (pre-1900) and with double-
crimped seams (post-1900) along with
crown lip bottles (post-1892) suggest a
late context in keeping with the photo-
graphic evidence. Percentages of nail
types on the other hand suggest a con
struction date in the 1860s with consider-
able alteration in the last quarter of the
19th century or later. A recovered sample
of 582 nails showed 55.20 per cent cut,
34.70 per cent wrought and 10.10 per
cent wire.

Road System
In 1966, it was decided to trace and test

the road system south of the fort en-
closure (Fig. 4; items 12, 13; Fig. 32).
This system, roughly paralleling both
sides of the creek south of the fort, was
first detected from aerial photographs
where the roads were shown as lines of
indentation.

One line, running in a northeasterly
direction, began near the present High-
way No. 9 on the south bank of the

creek, ran across the creek, and swung
east toward the Red River. Another line
branched off from this road shortly
before it crossed the creek and ran along
the south bank of the creek. From this
latter road another branch swung uphill
toward the miller’s residence. What might
have been another road branched off
from the first road shortly after it had
crossed the creek, but this feature could
not be observed from aerial photographs
because it ran through a wooded area.
This slight linear depression may have
extended as far as the storehouse which is
known to have stood on the north bank
of the creek. |t was thought that another
road may have formed an arc close to the
south wall of the troop canteen, black-
smith shop and farm manager’s residence
and joined the first road midway between
the crossing and the river. This road was
faintly detectable from aerial photo-
graphs.

An examination of the 1874 Do-
minion survey map (Fig. 3) showed a
dashed line in the approximate position
of the road leading to the storehouse on
the left bank of the creek. On the ground,
all routes except the one past the black-
smith shop could be seen with varying
clarity as linear depressions.

Test trenches were laid across them
with hopes of confirming their construc-
tion. Corduroy, gravel and dirt roads were
considered to be possible choices.

Loading Area

On the north bank of the ravine near the
river was a gravelled surface (Fig. 4; item
13;). It covered a wide general area
and appeared to be a large loading
area rather than a road as such. It was
thought there might have been a gravel



32 Plan of roads in the south field.

£

0

/W\-“J

,\)WN"W\

7"\«

Pt

T~

e

57



33 Industrial complex at the mouth of the
creek north of the fort enclosure, 1847
(Glenbow Alberta Institute).

34 Industrial complex at the mouth of the
creek north of the fort enclosure, 1851,
(Public Archives of Canadal).
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35 Industrial complex near creek mouth
south of the fort enclosure, 1851
(Public Archives of Canada).

surface over the road leading from this
area; however, further excavation showed
that the heavy gravel existed only in this
area. In this gravelled area, a linear
depression was noted running north and
south. This depression contained heavy
gravel and small limestone cobble and
may have been some sort of drain. No
logs were found beneath the gravel and
there was no evidence of corduroy road
construction. It is possible that this area
could have been a loading area servicing
the nearby milling-brewing complex.

To the east of this drain-like depres-
sion, excavation revealed a roughly rec-
tangular patch of brickwork overlain by
crushed brick. There was no indication of

wall construction; thus the brick may
have formed the floor of a lightly cons-
tructed shed.

In the same area randomly scattered
stones, some of which were much larger
than those to the west, were of sufficient
size to have been used in construction
and may have been associated with the
brickwork.

The third feature in this same area was
a 33.0 ft. line of large stones oriented
northwest-southeast extending to where
it was possibly cut off by a post-1883
road on the river bank. The average width
of this stone feature was 2 ft., and it was
two to three stones wide and one stone
deep. Although the path was first thought

to be a retaining wall to prevent soil
erosion, excavation at the brewery below
this point uncovered what was un-
doubtedly a retaining wall built at the
foot of the slope, and because of the
difference in construction between the
two features, a stronger case could be
made for the interpretation that the path
of stones was a sidewalk. In their ex-
cavated condition the stones were too
irregular and rough for walking.

Directly north of this area was a
possible refuse pit. Excavation was
carried out in about one-quarter of a
circular depression 3 ft. in diameter. The
resulting pit measured 4.6 ft. by 3.5 ft.
with a depth of 3.6 ft. Fill at all levels
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36 The mouth of the creek north of the
fort enclosure ca. 1879-83 (Public
Archives of Canada).

was mixed with varying amounts of mor-
tar.

Tested Roads
Two trenches were put across the road

running west from the loading area at 20
ft. intervals but this served only to
demonstrate that the road itself was not
gravelled.

Another test where the road turned to
go down into and across the ravine
uncovered only a small amount of gravel.

A further test on the slope demons-
trated that a cut-and-fill construction
technique was used on the slope. In the
profile, the black soil of the downhill end
was found to be almost twice as thick as
that on the higher end. Soil was clearly
cut from the slope and used as fill
adjacent to the cut, a standard technique
for present road construction.
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Across the creek, where the road
began to go uphill, the road indentation
was the most conspicuous of all parts of
the road system. The track varied in
width from 6 ft. to 14 ft. while the total
depression was as much as 19 ft. wide.
Here a trench showed that again the
topsoil at the downslope end of the
trench was twice as thick as that of the
upslope end.

The final test was laid out at the top
of the slope where the road entered level
ground. Nothing of note was detected.
Beyond this point the road indentation
faded away.

On the roadways tested, crushed lime-
stone surfacing was found only in the
area above the industrial complex at the
mouth of the creek. Where roads had
been run diagonally across steep slopes to
lessen the grade, cut and fill construction

techniques had been used. It would
appear that the system was a branch of
the main river road indicated on the
Dominion survey map.

A small number of portable artifacts
was found but datable ceramics ranged
from 1847 to 1904 in possible manu-
facture and could only be considered as
general sheet midden. Additional excava-
tion in what was apparently a refuse pit
might have indicated its period; however,
it was not practical at the time to proceed
with its examination,

Malt Barn-Grist Mill-
Sawmill-Lathe Room
In 1966 and 1967, the project excavated

a multi-purpose structure identified on
Watson’s 1928 map (Fig. 2; item 131) as
the grist mill (Fig. 4; item 14). Miquelon
(1964) indicated that two grist mills
might have stood on this location and
agreed with Watson that a sawmill had
probably straddled the creek next to one
or the other of the grist mills. Ingram
(1965) questioned the possibility of two
mills and suggested that a malt barn had
stood on or very near this location prior
to the construction of a grist mill. The
author felt that an 1847 drawing (Fig.
33), an 1851 painting (Fig. 34), an 1851
photograph (Fig. 35) and an 1879-83
photograph (Fig. 36) demonstrated that
only one building was ever in the location
in question. All functions in question
were housed in the same building. Since
the excavations, Ingram (1970b) has ob-
tained data which suggest that metal
lathing may have been added to the im-
pressive list of activities carried out in this
one structure, although the reference may
also be seen as being to a separate building
or addition.



37 Malt barn-gristmill-sawmill-lathe room
on the right malt kiln on the left.
The distillery-brewery-storehouse is in
the right background in this northward
facing photograph.

Although several dates are in question
relative to different functions, Ingram
demonstrated that the date of construc-
tion was most probably 1845, It appeared
to be a matter of demonstrating that only
one building had stood on that spot, and
that it had been altered for the various
functions.

There was no information in the docu-
ments pertaining to construction tech-
niqgue nor were the drawings or photo-
graphs available made near enough the
structure, or structures, to show the
specific nature of construction.

Surface inspection showed a deep cut
had been made into the north bank of the

creek, and several lines indicated possible
building foundations. Because of alluvial
deposits these lines were not as distinct as
could be hoped for. Another feature
which could be seen was a line of stones
level with the ground midway up the
creek bank above the flat formed by
cutting the bank. It was thought that this
line might have represented the top of
some sort of foundation. It was not clear
from surface evidence how many build-
ings might be represented, although from
the configuration of the artificial creek
flat the long axis of a large building
would have had to be east-west.

Two seasons work revealed what

might have been a half-timbered building
with an associated retaining wall, stone
gutters and paving (Figs. 37, 38).

A stone retaining wall lined the north
slope bordering the depression. This had
been the line of stone noted on the slope.
It consisted of a single thickness of lightly
mortared, unevenly coursed, split-faced
and square-cut limestone blocks with
rubble filling the space between the
facing stone and the slope. The eastern
end of the wall was badly disturbed
where it turned north to become asso-
ciated with the neighboring brewery-
distillery.

Bordering the base of the retaining
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38 Plan of the malt barn-grist mill-sawmill-
lathe room.

wall was a stone-lined gutter 1 ft. wide
and 0.3 ft. deep. This gutter began 11.5
ft. south of the west end of the retaining
wall, and extended eastward into the area
considered to be associated with the
neighbouring brewery-distillery. There it
joined with the gutter from that structure
to share a common gutter running south
to the creek. The gutter had a 1 ft. drop
from its west end to its confluence with
the second gutter.

A paving of limestone rubble and
crushed brick was set between the gutter
and the foundation of the building. In
general, the paving was so constructed
that larger limestone rubble formed a
base on which had been spread a mixture
of fine to coarse crushed limestone and
brick. It appeared that some mortar
either had been poured over this gravel
layer and allowed to work into the layer,
or mortar had been poured over the larger
rubble and the finer material was spread
over it.

West of the structure the paved area
was 1.4 ft. thick and 1.4 ft. above the
foundation and was 1 ft. wide near its
western end, but north of the structure it
was 1.3 ft. thick and 3 ft. wide. Near its
eastern end, it was so badly disturbed
that one could only tell that it had
widened to 4 ft. One might have judged
from the level of the gutter that it would
have been roughly 0.3 ft. above the top of
the foundation. The paving between the
east foundation and the north-south run-
ning section of gutter paralleling it was
6.5 ft. wide.

A 30 ft. by 60 ft. rectangular lime-
stone foundation with an east-west long
axis was uncovered. The southeastern
corner of the structure had been heavily
damaged by water action and was almost
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a total loss in terms of recoverable detail.
The foundation wall was 2.3 ft. to 2.5
ft. wide. Along its north, east and west
sides it was 1.75 ft. deep, but was 5.9 ft.
deep along its south side along the creek.
The south wall clearly functioned as a
retaining wall bordering the creek. Addi-
tional stones were detected to the east
and west of the ends of the building
which suggested that the retaining wall
had extended beyond the limits of the
building walls. Along the interior edge of
the western 50 ft. of the north founda-
tion and the western 16 ft. of the south
foundation was a series of notches 0.9 ft.
to 1.2 ft. wide by 0.7 ft. to 1 ft. deep by
1.3 ft. to 1.8 ft. long, set on 2 to 2.5 ft.
centres. These notches were for keying
north-south running floor joists.

Lying on the exterior edge of the
foundation at the northwest corner and
the southern half of the west foundation
were sections of compressed, square-cut
log sills. As found, width was 0.7 ft. to
1.0 ft.; however, none was more than 0.4
ft. thick. Alone, these sills could have
indicated either a completely log or a
rubble-filled superstructure. However, at
the northwest corner of the building was
found the base of an upright timber with
two diagonally set iron braces and im-
pressions in the silt of two 0.9 ft. thick
sills converging on the corner.

This type of braced corner construc-
tion was identical with the rubble-filled
Big House annex. It is possible that such a
brace is not exclusive to rubble-filled or
“half-timbered”” construction.  The identi-
fication of two sections of still mortared
rubble wall filling along the north wall
appeared to support an interpretation of
a building using rubble-filled post-on-sill
construction in the superstructure. One
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fallen patch was in the profile and ap-
peared to be in the proper position to
have been part of the wall. The second
section was standing between two floor
joist notches. This would not appear to
have been the proper location for such a
patch if it was associated with a wall, as it
is the author’s understanding that such a
patch should have been standing on the
sill. Its location adjacent to the boiler
platform discussed below may suggest
that this patch of stone was associated
with a partition rather than the outside
wall. The building interior appeared to be
divided into at least three areas.

The western 19 ft. of flooring was
characterized by north-south joists 0.7 ft.
to 1 ft. wide by 0.4 ft. to 0.6 ft. thick by
17 ft. to 20 ft. long, keyed into the
notches described above, set on the cut
and clay filled floor, and packed in with
gravelly clay. The joists were overlapped
side by side in the centre of the building
without benefit of being supported by a
central footing.

The floor boards ran east-west, were
0.6 ft. to 0.8 ft. wide by 0.1 ft. to 0.15 ft.
thick, and were secured to the underlying
joists by one or two rosehead wrought
nails. The floor boards rested on the west
foundation and abutted the sill. On the
south, at least two boards rested on the
foundation. It was probable that the
flooring had similarly rested on the north
foundation as well.

The next 10 ft. of flooring was
separated from the first 20 ft. by what
appeared to have been a stone threshold
centred between the north and south
foundations. Operational requirements
necessitated leaving this critical border
zone between the two floor areas unex-

cavated. Upon destruction of the build-
ing, debris appeared to have been piled
and burned in the centre of the ruin, cre-
ating considerable ash and largely destroy-
ing this section of flooring. Nevertheless,
from the tracing of burned fragments and
due to the builder’s practice of spreading
extra gravelly clay between joists, it was
possible to determine that this area of
flooring was characterized by a system of
double joisting. The regular north-south
oriented joists were underlaid by east-
west running joists with their centres set
45 ft., 3.25 ft. and 5.75 ft. proceeding
from south to north. Floor boards were
oriented east-west where found.

Despite heavy water damage in its
southern and southeastern portions, the
outermost 29 ft. of floor space could be
identified as an area of stone platforms
and patches of flagstone and rubble
paving built up over remnants of wooden
flooring.

A stone feature 7.5 ft. wide by 23.2 ft.
long paralleled the north foundation wall.

This platform appeared to have been
the remains of a boiler foundation. The
east end was occupied by what was
obviously a 4.2 ft. by 4.2 ft. firebox with
firebrick lining still on its side walls. The
iron firebox door was indicated by a
rust-filled groove cut into the flagstone
flooring across the mouth of the firebox.

Flagstone 0.4 ft. to 1 ft. thick formed
the firebox floor and it displayed signs of
burning. It also formed an apron in front
of the firebox measuring 6.8 ft. east-west
by 8 ft. north-south. The platform had a
3.8 ft. by 8 ft. hollow which was possibly
designed to hold a horizontal boiler.

The westernmost 3 ft. of the feature
stood above the rest of the platform. This
might have been part of a balk to reduce



39 Plan of the malt kiln.

c—g ooy

. TR T
L T LTIV ST SAHA
e iaite v

i) e 7]
g

L

A
|

05

Q3
O

Q

£
o



heat going to waste or simply a section of
the platform that was not destroyed to
the same degree as the remainder. The
remainder was 0.5 ft. above the rubble
paving and 1.0 ft. above the remnants of
wooden flooring under the paving. The
base of the platform was 0.5 ft. below the
wood fragments.

The notches built into the north foun-
dation wall bordering the platform were
devoid of joist ends and were so close to
the platform and flagstone flooring that
joists could not have been resting in these
notches while those features were
present. Notches adjacent to the flagstone
floor were filled with mortared rubble.
This might have been accidental or to
increase floor space.

Directly south of the platform were
found the remnants of a smaller platform
of irregular shape. It was only 0.5 ft.
above the rubble flooring. To the east of
this feature and under the rubble flooring
were fragments of north-south oriented
wooden joists 0.7 ft. to 1 ft. wide by 0.3
ft. thick, and fragments of what were
probably east-west oriented floorboards
0.6 ft. to 0.8 ft. wide by 0.1 ft. thick.
Details of the southern edges of the
second platform and areas to its south
and southeast were obscured by damage
from moving water; however, it appeared
that a machinery platform had stood
here, with rubble flooring around it and
the neighbouring boiler platform, and
with remnants of wooden flooring below
the rubble.

A combination of slope-washed and
flood-deposited sediments covered the

structural remains and the destruction
debris of the building. Additional
rubble from the collapsed retaining

wall covered the eastern end of the north
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foundation. Rubble from a thick deposit
between this building and the neigh-
bouring malt kiln to the west covered
portions of the west foundation.

A probable interpretation of this struc-
ture would be that a rubble- or horizontal
log-filled, post-on-sill malt barn with a
full wooden floor built in 1845 was
converted to a multi-purpose building in
1865 or 1866. Among the changes made
were the removal of portions of the
wooden flooring at the east end of the
building and the construction of stone
platforms for steam equipment. This
equipment may have included both flour
and sawmill facilities. Sometime later,
about 1871, when the construction and
maintenance of steamships were under-
taken, further alterations were probably
necessary to accommodate a heavy metal
lathe. This might have included the
strengthening of flooring directly west of
the source of steam power, the cons-
truction of a balk to protect the lathe
from the head of the steam engine and
the erection of a partition to form a room
at the west end of the building which
could still have been a malting room. One
might well be disturbed by a failure to
find the malt pit referred to by Ingram
(1970b). Such a pit could have been near
the creek in the disturbed area. Hindsight
would suggest deeper cuts through such
disturbed areas of the building in an
attempt to locate such a pit.

Portable artifacts were relatively plen-
tiful. Pieces of rubberized steam pipe,
machinery and boiler parts, hard coal,
locally made grating and the broken
section of a flour grindstone of ap-
parently local manufacture all reflect
proposed functions of the building.
Eleven out of seventeen ceramic objects

datable by period of manufacture fall
within the 1847 to 1867 period and no
range fails to fall within the period
proposed for the building. All dated glass
falls within the admittedly long period
during which the building was said to
have stood, with the exception of two
bottle necks, one made by means of a
20th-century fully automatic process and
the other with a post-1892 crown lip.

The author considers these occur-
rences spurious in light of the later flood
deposits over the site. It was not always
clear to excavators what material was
stirred up from the floor by early post-
destruction floods and what fell into the
mud of the same floods. This was also
true for some metal objects, particularly
crown bottle caps (post-1892) and for the
occurrence of one tin container which
presented the not uncommon feature of
being both soldered and crimped along
different seams. The place of such cans in
manufacturing history is not clear.

In a sample of 3,864 nails, 46.9 per
cent were cut, 57.43 per cent were
wrought and 0.70 per cent were wire. The
slightly higher percentage of wrought
over cut fits into the pattern one might
predict for a slightly pre-middle 19th-
century structure on this site, and the
very few wire nails could reflect either
some 1870s or 1880s repairs to the
building, or could of course represent
later deposit in the flood sediment just
above the floor.

Malt Kiln
A structure identified on Watson's 1928

map as the malt kiln (Fig. 2; item 130)
was excavated in 1966 (Fig. 4; item 15).

If it was built at the same time as
other buildings of the brewing-distilling



40 The distillery-brewery-storehouse looking
south with the guttered paving in the
foreground and to the right.
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complex, then a date of 1845 to 1846
could be assigned to it.

A clear depression with a mound in it
was noted in the area.

Excavation revealed a highly disturbed
2.4 ft. wide stone foundation 18 ft. by 19
ft. (Figs. 47, 50). The southern wall along
the creek clearly served also as a retaining
wall, and the northwest and northeast
corners were reasonably intact. The re-
maining height of the north wall was 2.2
ft.

It is logical that a paved area may have
existed between the malt kiln and the
malt barn to the east of the kiln; how-
ever, it was not practical to expand
excavation into that area at the time.

A burned clay floor with some ash was
found under a massive heap of dolomitic
limestone rubble, Some medium to hard
coal was found in adjoining areas. Traces
of darker creek bank soils were found
under the first clay near the creek. Cut
and fill operations must have produced
the marked depression in the creek bank
occupied by this structure.

Logic would suggest that a large, hot
fire on a clay floor would have required a
largely stone building with metal screen-
ing holding the green malt some distance
above the flames. Hard coal would also
have been necessary in order to avoid
undesirable fumes according to Mr.
Robert Parker, a Toronto brewmaster.
The presence of hard coal and sections of
screening in the rubble appeared to be in
keeping with these requirements. Other
portable artifacts were not found.
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41 Plan of the distillery-brewery-storehouse.
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Distillery-Brewery-Storehouse

In 1967, the project excavated the build-
ing constructed in 1845 to 1846 on the
north bank of the creek near its mouth
which according to Miquelon (1970) and
Ingram (1970b) was probably a distillery
(Fig. 4; item 16). For reasons discussed
by Ingram, the building served several
functions, none of which was evidently
distilling or if so, not on a commercial
scale. His evidence indicated that brewing
and general storage were its primary uses.
In 1928, Watson described it as a dwelling
as well as a brewery (Fig. 2; item 133).
Miquelon and Ingram both noted its use
for the general company activities which
were displaced by the arrival of the
military in 1846.
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According to Ingram (1970b) the struc-
ture was taken down in 1880. It may be
that the malt barn-grist mill-sawmill-lathe
room was taken down at this time as well,
but documentation is lacking on this
point. When Ingram’s sources refer %o
demolishing the brewery, they may have
meant the entire complex.

Some details of the superstructure
were to be seen in the figures discussed
above for the malt barn and in an
additional 1847 drawing (Fig. 26).

The structure was rectangular with a
north-south long axis, had two stories and
possibly a half, was hip-roofed at the
north and probably the south ends, and
had at least three chimneys but possibly
four at various periods. Construction
technique was not clearly visible, but
Watson indicated that it was a log
building and the one corner showing in
Figure 36 might confirm this and suggest
post-on-sill construction. If so, a strong
argument could be made that both this
structure and its sister building built as a
malt barn were of post-on-sill construc-
tion. If so, then both mortared stone
patches found in the malt barn might
have been associated with internal con-
struction rather than external walls.

On the ground, a depression could be
seen cutting into the river bank at the
point indicated in Watson's map and the
illustrations. A technique of cut and fill
had probably been employed to create
this depression. The creek took a sharp
cut into the southern end of the area and
the eastern edge was clearly open to
erosional action from the river. A road-
way bordering the river bed had also been
built into the depression’s northwest cor-
ner. It could not be determined whether
this was a road built to service the
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distillery or was a
feature.

post-destruction

Excavation (Figs. 40, 41) showed that
the retaining wall which was described for
the malt barn continued into this opera-
tion and followed the west and north
walls of the depression, including the
point where the road entered the de-
pression. The limestone and crushed brick
paving extended into this depression al-
though the major material was now clear-
ly limestone and the use of mortar to
hold it together was more clearly evident.
The paving was 15.8 ft. to 16 ft. wide
west of the distillery and 10.2 ft. to 10.5
ft. wide along the north side. Although
less obvious due to disturbance from the
creek, patches of paving were found
south of the southwest corner of the
foundation. A stone-lined gutter system
bordered the edge of the building’s north
foundation and then made a sharp turn
into the paved area and paralleled the
west foundation at a distance of 7 ft.
until it joined the gutter from the malt
barn and disappeared into a disturbed
situation along the creek.

Two large flat stones were found in
the paving. One was set against the
building foundation near its northwest
corner and the other was set against the
retaining wall near where it turned west
along the malt barn. These were possibly
stone stoops, the former probably being
for a door and the latter possibly indi-
cating the foot of a set of steps into the
depression.

The eastern and southeastern margins
of the structure were missing due to creek
and river damage. There was enough left,
however, to determine that it had been
42.5 ft. long north to south and at least

26 ft. wide. The foundations were 2.2 ft.
to 2.3 ft. wide and 1.8 ft. deep. The
inside edge of the west foundation con-
tained a series of notches 0.9 ft. to 0.95
ft. wide by 0.9 ft. desp, for keying joists
on a 2.5 ft. centre. The north foundation
had a longitudinal groove 0.5 ft. wide by
0.4 ft. deep for holding a joist. Along the
outside margin of the foundations were
the remains of squared timbers 0.4 ft. to
0.6 ft. wide by 0.5 ft. thick. They were
secured at the northwest corner by two
pins. No mortared rubble from the wall
was found to suggest rubble filling be-
tween upright timbers as one would
expect, were the building of half-
timbered construction., From the evi-
dence of floor construction, the building
interior had at least three subdivisions.
The northwestern section of flooring
13.5 ft. north-south by 13.0 ft. east-west
was characterized by east-west running
joists 0.55 ft. to 0.7 ft. wide by 0.52
ft. thick, keyed into the notches and
groove described above. The northeastern
section, 13.5 ft. north-south by at least
12,5 ft. east-west, was covered with a
double layer of boards. The floor boards,
0.6 ft. wide by 0.05 ft. thick, were
secured with two 0.25 ft. to 0.42 ft. cut
nails and some clasp-headed wrought nails
at a joist. This upper layer, whose boards
had the same dimensions, had been se-
cured to the lower, which it overlaid at
right angles, with clasp-headed wrought
nails set in a random pattern. The joists
apparently spanned slightly more than
half of the building width and lapped
each other side by side at the middle of
the floor. There was no central footing to
support these overlapping ends. However,
the northernmost joist was imbedded in
the foundation and the next three joists



42 Looking east across the storehouse depression
along the north bank of the creek.

were imbedded in a layer or puddle of
mortar.

A fireplace 3 ft. north-south by 4 ft.
east-west was located on the southeast
corner of the northwest section. It
opened to the north and had an apron
with a dressed border 3 ft. north-south by
4 ft. east-west. A trapezoidal area with a
2 ft. base, a 1.2 ft. height and a 1.5 ft.
side parallel to the base displayed ex-
posure to great heat and was probably the
area of the single hearth,

The remaining floor area was charac-
terized by a similar joist situation, except
that a mixed clay fill was found between
them, and the lapped ends at the centre
were supported by two north-south

oriented timbers which acted as a central
footing. A single thickness of north-south
planks 0.6 ft. wide by 0.05 ft. to 0.08 ft.
thick was evidently secured by two clasp-
headed wrought nails per board on a joist.

It was disturbing not to have found
evidence of stone platforms for boilers or
larger sources of heat needed in com-
mercial distilling and brewing. One sug-
gestion would be that such facilities were
removed when the building was converted
into a storehouse in 1880. However,
conversion should have been detectable.
The question will require study of the
19th century processes involved.

Fewer machine parts were found here
than in the nearby grist mill building;

however, rubberized cloth found in this
structure may be associated with func-
tions attributed to the building. Thirteen
ceramic objects were broadly datable to
range of manufacture and all ranges had
some segment which fell within the attri-
buted date range of the building.

Two glass containers could be given
approximate dates. One bottle neck with
a mould line ending at a hand tooled lip
most probably dates from the 1890s but
could conceivably date from the 1880s,
and a Blackwoods Beverage bottle has a
Hutchinson stopper (1879 to 1912)
which could fall into the proper date
range but requires research on the com-
pany involved. Tin containers are mostly
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the pre-1900 soldered seam type but
some combine a soldered end seam with a
double-crimped side seam. Logic would
suggest that these, too, are post-1900,
The significance of their occurrence is not
clear but it should be mentioned that
flood deposits cover the distillery just as
they did the malt barn with the same
possibility of occasional scouring action
as well as deposition.

Storehouse

In 1967, the project carried out the
partial excavation of a structure identi-
fied as a storehouse on the north bank of
the creek south of the fort enclosure (Fig.
4; item 17). Watson’s 1928 map identi-
fied the building at this location as a log
storehouse which was moved into the fort
for a sales shop (Fig. 2; item 129). Ingram
(1965) agreed that this might have been
the log “Red Store”” moved inside the
fort enclosure in 1873. He also cited
evidence which dated the construction of
the storehouse to June, 1847, Because it
was built near the distilling complex at
this date, it might have been designed to
store the production of planned commer-
cial distilling and brewing. A drawing and
a photograph (Figs. 34,35) of 1851
showed a building in the area indicated
by Watson. They showed a hip-roofed,
east-west oriented building with two and
a half stories and dormer windows. An
examination of the area revealed a major
depression in the creek bank (Fig. 42).
The south wall of the former building was
seen as a low ridge bordering the creek
side of the depression and a central
footing was represented as a shallow
linear depression bisecting the depression
along its long axis. A low mound was to
be seen in the structure’s southwest
quadrant.
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Partial excavation disclosed the widely
scattered remains of a building approxi-
mately 29 ft. by 67 ft. with an east-west
long axis. It had an exterior drainage
system and retaining wall around
its three uphill sides. The retaining wall
consisted of lightly mortared, random
and unevenly coursed split-faced dolo-
mitic limestone with a loose rubble back-
ing between smaller stones and the slope.

A limestone gravel paving, 0.9 ft. to
1.5 ft. wide and showing occasional mor-
tar, had been built at the base of the
retaining wall and extended to the creek
side edge of the building at its east and
west ends. Remnants of wooden planking
were found on this paving. At the south-
east corner of the building, the paving
gave way to a covered plank drain which
in turn gave way to a line of limestone
rubble extending down the creek bank. A
wooden gutter may have bordered the
building on the north, east and west sides
and then may have been covered for a
short distance to accommodate foot
traffic. It may have then given way to a
stone drain.

The walls of the building had been set
on a light, approximately 2 ft. wide stone
footing which had been completely des-
troyed, leaving only a shallow rubble-and
clay-filled linear depression where the
footing must have been. With additional
documentary references to this having
been a log building, it was thought that
an additional clue for log construction in
the distillery and malt barn might lie in
shallow foundations. Comparative archi-
tecture demonstrated this to be un-
reliable. Half-timbered buildings can have
light foundations.

No traces of wooden flooring were
found in the building interior. However, a
0.4 ft. wide by 0.4 ft. deep linear

depression down the centre of the build-
ing’s long axis contained fragments of
wood and was probably a wooden central
footing for floor joists. The flooring
could have been in good enough condi-
tion to salvage when the building was
moved.

A 148 ft. by 175 ft. room was
discovered in the southwest corner of the
bujlding. Linear depressions suggested
that it might have had a stone footing
under its partition walls. Two stone slabs
were set into an otherwise yellow clay
floor and could have been the base for a
piece of heavy machinery such as a fur
press. It is also possible that similar slabs
originally formed the entire floor of this
small room or structure. A mound of
limestone and mortar over the area of this
room indicated that considerable stone-
work had been associated with the area.
This could have indicated that it was a
special strongroom for the storage of
valuable merchandise or cash.

Datable ceramics were not found
among the portable artifacts in a preli-
minary survey of the collection. Glass
containers appeared to range in date of
possible manufacture from the 1850s to
the 1890s. The early end of the range was
indicated by the presence of a bottle
marked “Amsterdam” which had a
dimpled base similar to the style of
well-known Ricketts bottles of Bristol
made after the 1850s until near the turn
of the century. This date may not be a
good one for the Amsterdam bottle and
perhaps we should ignore it for the
present. The date range suggested by the
remaining glass containers is 1860 to
1890. The floor of this excavation was
right at the surface and in general, the
context appeared to be a poor one.
Post-1900 tin containers with double-



43 Plan of the beer cellar.
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crimped seams were lying on the rubble
paving. The nail sample, nevertheless,
proved to be consistent with an 1847
construction date and with a building
lasting until 1873. In a total sample of
360 nails, 73.33 per cent were wrought,
14.17 per cent were cut and 12.50 per
cent were wire. There seemed to be too
many wire nails to have been associated
with the 1847-73 date range suggested
above. Noteworthy in this respect is that
44 out of the 45 wire nails found were
associated with the small stone room at
the southwest corner. It is therefore
possible that this feature was not directly

related to the storehouse but was a later
structure.

Beer Cellar
In 1967, a building identified as a beer

and spirits cellar was partially excavated
in the north bank of the creek south of
the fort enclosure (Fig. 4; item 18). There
was no documentary or illustrative infor-
mation available beyond Watson's 1928
identification of the structure as a log
beer cellar torn down about 1884 (Fig. 2;
item 128). A deep depression was to be
seen at the indicated location. Partial
excavation revealed a 40.8 ft. by 20 ft.

semi-subterranean frame structure with a
north-south orientation and a small off-
centre door stoop at the downhill or
south end (Fig. 43).

The walls were 0.4 ft. by 6 ft. studs

toenailed onto 0.65 ft. to 0.8 ft. wide by
0.3 ft. thick plank sills with cut nails.

The studs were normally on 1.7 to 2 ft.
centres. However, at the stoop along the

south wall, a 3.4 ft. centre left an apparent
doorway opening. The 0.38 ft. wide by

0.18 ft. thick floor joists were set on a
3.1 ft. to 3.5 ft. centre and extended
beneath and slightly beyond the east and
west sills. Floor boards were 0.41 ft. to
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44 North-south profile of the west lime kiln.
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0.5 ft. wide by 0.1 ft. thick as found.
They were oriented north-south and were
secured by cut nails which protruded
up to 0.22 ft. above the floor. This
protrusion may have represented the
board thickness lost due to the combined
compaction of the joist and floorboard.

At the point along the south wall
where a doorway was found, not only
was there a 3.7 ft. gap in the studding,
but the sill in that gap showed greater
wear and compaction than other sections
of sill.

The wooden door stoop outside of the
wall at this point was 5 ft. by 6.5 ft. with
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an east-west long axis. The floor boards
were 0.3 ft. by 0.6 ft. wide and were
oriented parallel to the south sill. Three
joists 0.4 ft. by 0.8 ft. wide were under-
lying the others at right angles to the
wall. All wood was less than 0.1 ft. thick
and highly deteriorated. It appeared that
the feature was a doorway and stoop. The
other walls were probably surrounded by
clay fill, making the south wall the most
likely place for an entrance.

The walls appear to have been covered
with plaster. The finished surface of the
plaster was smooth and cream-coloured,
likely due to flotation of finer particles

during trowelling at the time of applica-
tion. The rough side of the plaster had in-
dentations showing contact with wood
lath. This crumbled plaster was found over
much of the excavated floor area, and no
evidence was found outside of the wall
with the exception of a concentration of
finely crumbled mortar near the doorway,
which may have been deposited on the
clay to make the walking area less muddy.
Three lenses of manure were found in
the clay overlying the floor. The two
lower lenses were found within the bot-
tom few tenths of a foot of the clay fill



and did not extend outside of the build-
ing interior. This suggested that the struc-
ture may have been used as a barn before
its collapse or destruction. The third layer
of manure was thicker and found at a
much higher level, and extended beyond
the outside edges of the wall. It would
seem that this layer had been deposited at
a later period when livestock wandered
over the surface of the depression, or that
it was deposited there by people tending
the livestock.

At some later date when the super-
structure had collapsed and clay had been
deposited upon the original floor, a stone
wall on a plank footing was built across
the depression near its north end. A layer
of refuse had been deposited upon the
wood and had mixed with the lower level
of stone making up the wall.

The wall was constructed of split-faced
dolomitic limestone rocks piled without
mortar. A mortared dolomitic limestone
slope extended from the north edge of
the retaining wall up the end slope of the
depression. This sloping wall was found
only in the northeast corner of the
depression while the vertical retaining
wall stretched across the entire depres-
sion, It is possible that this feature might
have been a loading platform, although
the steepness and depth of the depression
slope would seem to argue against this.

The evidence was limited for the
wooden flooring or footing upon which
the wall (platform?) had been built.
Planking parallel to and under the retain-
ing wall did not extend beyond the stone.
Several planks extended perpendicularly
to the retaining wall in a southerly
direction.

Portable artifacts lying on the floor of
the structure included glass flasks finished

with a lipping tool which could place
them in the 1880s or 1890s, and some
ceramics may have been post-1890 as
well. Nails associated with the structure
appeared to indicate a construction date
in the 1870s. In a total sample of 412
nails, 95.90 per cent were cut, 3.91 per
cent were wrought and 0.20 per cent
were wire. This suggestion of a late
construction date for the cellar may
be supported by an 18 April 1871 refer-
ence quoted by Ingram (1970): “Put the
first (italics mine) beer in the cellar, 228
gallons strong beer and 60 galls., small
beer.” This appears to have been asso-
ciated with a recent expansion in brewing
for the purpose of supplying a new troop
population. This expansion could also
have included a new cellar. Linoleum, oil-
cloth and other material probably dating
from the last years of Company activity
and the country club period were found
in association with the later stone retain-
ing wall.

West Lime Kiln
The west lime kiln (Fig. 4; item 19) was

shown as a 10 ft. circular structure on the
Watson map (Fig. 2; item 137). On the
ground, this structure was distinguishable
as the westernmost of two deep depres-
sions cut into the right bank of the ravine
south of the fort enclosure. The kiln can
be seen in Figure 36.

The upper margins of the kiln were
deteriorated, but from what was left one
could determine that the kiln was 18 ft.
in diameter and at least 8 ft. deep. Where
measurable, the basin-shaped mortar and
granitic boulder lining was 0.4 ft. to 0.7
ft. thick. The earth outside the lining was
baked red. The fill consisted of pure lime
on the bottom. Above this were slumped

or washed-in layers of clays mixed with
lime, sand, mortar, rocks and baked earth
(Fig. 44). Some of the larger granitic
rocks had fused surfaces, demonstrating
exposure to intense heat. A stone-lined
service aperture 2.0 ft. wide and between
3.5 ft. and 4.0 ft. high opened toward the
creek (north). Probably originally a tun-
nel, the top of this aperture extended at
least 5.0 ft. outside the sloping interior
surface of the kiln and had a maximum
length of 8.0 ft. at its bottom.

Commercial lime burning in “hand-
fired” kilns ceased in Manitoba in 1966
and had already stopped in most other
parts of Canada and the United States.
The project observed the last year of
commercial hand burning and recorded
some of the now abandoned kilns. There
is still at least one private kiln in Garson,
Manitoba, of the type excavated. It has
been loaded for several years but is
unfired.

We also recorded an interview with the
last man associated with lime burning at
Lower Fort Garry, the late Mr. Frank
Philpott. From him we learned that the
type of lime kiln excavated at the fort is
generally referred to as a ‘“pot” kiln
because it resembles a large caldron or
pot in shape. This variety of pot kiln had
no depression in the floor to act as a
firebox so a fire tunnel had to be con-
structed above the floor. This was accom-
plished in a number of ways. Mr. Philpott
stated that he and his father used steel
rails to hold the stone above the fire, but
the last commercial operation as well as
the loaded kiln in Garson built by Mr. F.
Fredrickson in 1931 both had barrel-
vaulted fire tunnels constructed of the
limestone blocks being burned, requiring
that the next stones be lowered carefully
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45 Looking west across the excavated miller's
residence.
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from the top so as not to destroy the fire
tunnel. Finer limestone was spread on the
top of the loaded kiln to prevent the
rapid loss of heat. In the excavated kiln,
there was a slight constricting of the walls
toward the top. According to Mr. Phil-
pott, this was to deflect heat into the
loaded kiln. Fuel was then fed through
the service aperture. The burning took
several days and had to be tended the full
time. The much weakened arch was
broken down with a long rod, if it had not
fallen down on its own, and the lime was
unloaded through the service aperture.
Gravity fed the aperture and long handled
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hooks and shovels were used for unload-
ing. The individual burned stones were
then struck with a hammer to remove the
powdered lime from any unburned

“hearts.”
Pot kilns are top loading so it is likely

that any kilns used at the fort were built
into the river or creek bank or both.

In 1831, the “new” Lower Fort Garry
was to be built of stone. It is likely that a
lime kiln or kilns, though not necessarily
the one excavated, were the first things to
be built at Lower Fort Garry.

There were no kiln tools recovered in
the excavations, although an occasional

golf ball in the fill gave evidence of the
20th-century context of the slumped and
washed fill.

Storage Cellar

A depression of unknown function on the
right bank of the ravine south of the fort
enclosure was excavated in 1965 (Fig. 4;
item 20). It was considered likely that
this extra and undocumented depression
was either an additional lime kiln or a
storage cellar. A set of narrow steps led
from the north end of this depression
into the ravine.



46 Plan of the miller’s residence.
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Test trenches showed no more than an
irregular contact between a thick humus
and a very heavy, mottled, grey clay.
Wood fragments were encountered in the
bottom of the humus but it could not be
determined whether they were associated
with a function such as pit or mill-sawing.
Clearly it was not a third lime kiln. A
sawpit or storage cellar are possible func-
tions with storage being the more likely
interpretation, on no better evidence than
general appearance. A very small col-
lection of portable artifacts included golf
balls and a single datable (1847 to 1867)
hard paste earthenware vessel.

Boatyard-Boatshed

Tests were carried out in 1965 and 1966
to locate a building thought to be related
to shipping or boat building (Fig. 4; item
21). A photograph dating between 1879
and 1883 (Fig. 36) shows a small building
near the mouth of the creek. A photo-
graph taken between 1883 and 1911 (Fig.
30) shows a stone footing or foundation
low on the river bank north of the creek
mouth.

Alluvial deposits up to 6 ft. deep
covered the underlying dolomitic lime-
stone foundation. A few artifacts oc-
curred throughout the deposit, but there
was no sign of timbering, foundations or
distinctive artifacts which might indicate
boat construction or storage, perhaps
because it was disturbed through human
activity or flooding.

Miller’s Residence
In 1966, excavation was undertaken at a

small residence referred to on the 1928
Watson map (Fig. 2; item 138) as the log
house for the miller. The residence was
located near the river bank south of the
creek (Fig. 4; item 22). If Watson attri-

78

buted the proper function to the struc-
ture, then it should have been built
sometime after 1865. This structure can
be seen beyond the creek in Figure 46. It
was clearly a single storied post-on-sill
building.

On the ground, evidence of the struc-
ture was indicated by a slight mound with
a depression in the centre.

Excavation uncovered a pattern of
square-cut timbers outlining a wooden-
floored log structure 16.5 ft. by 22.5 ft.
with a shallow, basin-shaped central cellar
(Figs. 45, 46). The structure had a north-
south long axis.

The north and south wall sills and the
six east-west running joists underlaid the
east and west wall sills. In addition, the
corners were clearly half-lapped while the
joists appeared to be set in shallow
depressions so they passed completely
under the wall sills. The widest space
between any joists was the space between
the joists running north and south of the
cellar where a 5 ft. gap was left. Extra
support timbers had been set diagonally
under the northwest, southwest and
southeast corners and under the centre of
the north wall. One can only surmise that
similar supports had originally existed
under the northeast corner and the centre
of the south wall.

A vertical post would have stood at
each corner, in the centre of the shorter
north and south walls and at approxi-
mately 7 ft. to 8 ft. intervals along the
east and west walls. The extra supports
under the corners as well as under the
north and south wall sills would have
taken the stress for these uprights, and
the extension of the joists under the long
wall sills would have served the same
purpose. All timber dimensions ranged

from 0.3 ft. by 0.4 ft. to 0.9 ft., often
within the same timber.

In profile, one could see that a thin
sod layer was generally underlain by
a 0.1 ft. to 0.5 ft. layer of mortar
rubble, marking the building’s destruc-
tion. This layer had sealed off the basin-
shaped cellar depression which measured
approximately 1.5 ft. deep by approxi-
mately 6 ft. across. A layer of grey clay
with a maximum thickness of 0.4 ft. was
usually under the mortar and may have
represented a slight artificial mounding
raising the entire structure above the
surrounding ground level, its purpose
possibly being to divert surface drainage
from the residence. The timbers had been
set into this grey layer. The normal black
earth lay under the grey clay away from

the cellar.
It was thought that the sealed-off

cellar had been used as a refuse pit prior
to final destruction and had been sealed
neatly by debris during destruction. It
contained a quantity of artifacts and a
number of mostly granitic, melon-sized
boulders. Although there were some dark
stains at the edges of the depression, it
was not clear whether the cellar had a
bark lining.

Several boards of no more than 0.1 ft.
thickness outside of the east wall sug-
gested that a porch extended along part
or all of the east wall. Evidence seemed
clearest near the centre of the wall where
east-west running boards were nailed on a
plank paralleling the east wall sill. It
appeared possible that at least a stoop
was located at that point.

There were approximately 36 ceramic
objects found with a manufacturing date
range of between 1833 and 1904. One of
two ceramic objects which could have



47 The riverfront, 2 May 1920. The horse
stable appears to the right of the fort and
a large tent can be seen in the left
background (Hudson’s Bay Company,
Winnipeg).

been manufactured in the 20th century
had a manufacturing date range of 1880
to 1904. This material was from below
destruction rubble, suggesting that either
the residence was still standing at least as
late as 1880, or that it had been torn
down but the mortar had not been
levelled over the floor until later. This
impression is deepened by the presence of
a bottle with a baffle mark on its base
probably placing it in the first quarter of
the 20th century. The presence of tin
containers with double crimped seams
(post-1900) under the rubble adds yet
more evidence for at least a turn-of-the-
century date for the final sealing of the
artifact sample by destruction rubble. In
this respect, it is a bit puzzling to note
that not one wire nail was recovered. In a
total of 548 nails, a fair sample for such a
small structure, 70.62 per cent were cut

and 29.38 per cent were wrought, making
it apparently consistent with a con-
struction date in the 1860s and early
1870s. It is possible that it was destroyed
earlier than the turn of the century.
Destruction debris could have been a high
ridge following the former wall lines
which was levelled into the cellar to
convert the site into a proper golf course.

Stableman’s Residence

An unsuccessful attempt was made to
locate the stableman’s residence north of
the fort enclosure (Fig. 4; item 23). The
area tested was the location indicated on
the Watson map (Fig. 2; item 112).

- The stableman’s residence was not
found, although the 1874 Dominion
survey map (Fig. 3) and photographs
of about 1871 (Fig. 14) and 1880
(Fig. 15) confirmed Watson’s location. It

can be assumed that either bulldozer and
plowing activity have scattered evidence
of this structure, or that trenching was
not the proper searching technique.

Horse Stable
In 1966, an excavation was oriented
toward investigation of the structure
situated north of the fort enclosure (Fig.
4; item 24) identified as a stone horse
stable by Watson (Fig. 2; item 106).
There is no direct historical evidence
bearing on the date of construction for
this building, but a date soon after 1857
when large-scale farming operations were
undertaken would be logical. It was torn
down sometime after 2 May 1920, on the
evidence of a photograph taken during
the Hudson’s Bay Company’s 250th anni-
versary celebrations (Fig. 47). Since the
same photograph shows no other large

79



48 Horse stable looking east.
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49 Plan of the horse stable.

TN Y

stables in the area north of the fort at
that time, this must have been the stable
for which Ingram (1965) found a 1920
description.

60’ x 30’ with 10" wall. Oak uprights
6" x 6” about 2’ apart, stone and mortar
fill in. Oak beams (ceiling) 5° apart with a
center stringer running lengthwise. Inch
lumber nailed for floor, 3 partitions run-
ning across inside made of 3’ oak planks
all sound but inch Ilumber worthless.
Roof shingled, leaks like a sieve.

Since Watson described the building as
“stone” a very few years later, one may
consider that either the recollection of his
informant was poor or that for him,
“’stone” included “rubble-filled” or

Scale in feet

“half-timbered” construction as exem-
plified by the annex of the Big House, as
well as solid stone construction. A photo-
graph dating from 1880 (Fig. 7) con-
firmed the rubble-filled nature of this
stable’s superstructure and along with
another photograph of 1871 to 1881
(Fig. 14), indicated lean-tos against the
east, west and north walls.

On the surface, one could see the
remnants of a rectangular stone founda-
tion with an east-west long axis, with
basal stone showing in places. Park staff
indicated that the eastern end of this
foundation had been disturbed recently
by a bulldozer. Here the stones were
scattered to a much greater extent and

(L
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the surface indication of the foundation
was less distinct. At the northwest corner
of the foundation, within the structure,
was a stone feature which protruded
above the foundation level. It was
thought that this might represent a
section of the fallen stone wall. Mr.
Henry Sprong of Selkirk informed the
author that considerable amounts of
stone from the building had been utilized
in the construction of the bell tower of
St. Clement’s church in the town of
Selkirk.

Excavations (Figs. 48,49) revealed
that the stable only approximated the
dimensions described above. Outside
measurements on each foundation were
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as follows: south 60.7 ft.; north 61.5 ft.;
east 31.2 ft., and west 31.0 ft. The
structure thus did not have perfectly
square corners. Width of the top of the
foundation was consistent at 2.1 ft. It
was 2.5 ft. to 3 ft. deep and there was an
interior and an exterior shelf on the north
foundation so the base was 3 ft. wide.

An examination of the north-south
profile revealed that the area enclosed
by the foundation had been stripped
of gravel. The foundation was set into
a trench and the enclosured filled with
limestone boulders and clay. At the point
where this profile was drawn, this layer of
fill was only one foot thick, but further
north an area of apparently less disturbed
flooring displayed a thickness of up to 2
ft. of boulders packed in clay. This
layer was on top of a black earth.
Clay had been laid over the boulders to
form a level surface. A thin layer of sand
had been laid on the clay as a base for the
limestone blocks which formed the floor
of the stable. Sand had then been used to
fill the interstices between the blocks.
These rectangular limestone blocks
ranged in size from 0.8 ft. to 1.1 ft. high,
0.4 ft. to 0.8 ft. wide and 0.8 ft. to 3.0 ft.
long. These stones had been fitted side by
side on edge. The majority of the stones
were laid parallel to the long axis of the
structure but at every 6 ft. to 7 ft. this
arrangement was interrupted by a single
row of blocks running at right angles to
the rest. Only the northwest corner of the
building retained a 14.6 ft. east-west by
6.3 ft. north-south area of this layer of
flooring. Where the stones had been
removed, depressions corresponding to
the north-south oriented rows could be
seen near the west end of the building.
Some clay was to be found between the
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stones but it could not be determined
whether this was packing or incidental
deposition. In total, the stable had a floor
in excess of 3 ft. in thickness; an elab-
orate floor, apparently designed for maxi-
mum drainage.

There was no indication of additional
levels of flooring over the cut-stone
paving. The 1920 description quoted
earlier referred to wooden flooring at that
time; however, it could have been refer-
ring to the loft floor or to a temporary
arrangement of that period.

The wall foundation near the remain-
ing patch of cut-stone flooring was 0.2 ft.
above the floor, indicating that one or
more courses of stonework have been
pirated from other portions of the wall.
This also indicated that the wall sills were
placed at a level above the cut-stone
floor.

Outside of the north and south foun-
dation walls some gravel could still be
seen overlying the natural black soil.
Deposits of limestone rubble and clay
were banked against the building. Pos
sibly this was for drainage around the
edge of the building or it may have just
been construction debris. Overlying and
somewhat mixed into this rubble outside
the north foundation was a 0.4 ft. to 0.8
ft. thick deposit of manure with a cover-
ing of sod, suggesting that the animal
yard was on the north, but not on the
south side of the stable.

Efforts to locate the lean-tos noticed
on the photographs was concentrated in
the areas east and west of the structure,
At the east end a thick concentration of
manure was found under the sod such as
had been found elsewhere. This was
underlaid by an outward or eastward
sloping floor of clay, with a concen

tration of rubble directly against the
foundation, presumably to provide a
drainage slope. Two areas with large
fragments of wood were uncovered. None
of these fragments were oriented in such
a way as to indicate that they were in an
undisturbed situation. In addition, nails
were found in the wood with their points
up. Possibly it was part of the destruction
debris. On the east end of the structure
there was no archaeological evidence for a
lean-to.

At the west end there was also some
wood. A plank was found lying roughly
in line with the north wall, but it could
not be considered firm evidence of a
lean-to. The plank was lying in the upper
portion of a loosely compacted clay and
boulder layer, which was 2.2 ft. thick at
the foundation and sloped westward for
20 ft. There was a small tightly packed
lens of stone and clay at the bottom
of this level, close to the structure.
Underlying the rubble and clay was undis-
turbed black soil.

While existence of subsidiary struc-
tures was indicated by photographs and
the nature of the superstructure was
known through both photographs and
written description, excavation alone did
not reveal any evidence of lean-tos or of
rubble-filled construction. One must
presume that lean-tos were carried away
completely for construction material and
that some detail of stable superstructure
had been lost for the same reason. The
spectacular nature of the flooring was
nevertheless worth the effort spent on the
building.

Portable artifacts were predictably
late. Material came from floor contexts
which were open to deposition in the
20th century and the area north of the



50 Ox stable looking east.




51 Plan of the ox stable.
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fort enclosure has been used through-
out this century as a refuse dump and
was still being used as such in 1967.
Artifacts included Motor Country Club
(post-1914) table service, post-1892
purple manganese glass and 20th century
glass containers with the Dominion Glass
Company “D’’ in a diamond trademark
patented in the 1920s. The nail sample
was very small which might be a result of
the way in which the structure was torn
down and removed. In a universe of 107
nails, 41.11 per cent were cut, 34.58 per
cent were wrought and 24.31 per cent
were wire. Despite its small size, the
sample falls into a pattern of progres-
sively reduced use of wrought nails
through time and reflects the structure’s
late persistence by a relatively high per-
centage of wire nails.

Ox Stable
An excavation in 1966 was oriented

toward the investigation of a building on
the gravel ridge north of the fort en-
closure identified on Watson's 1928 map
(Fig. 2; item 105) as an ox stable (Fig. 4;
item 25). Watson stated that construction
was of stone which suggested to the
author that it, like the horse stable, was of
rubble-filled construction. Primary docu-
mentation of its construction and razing
is lacking but presumably it was built
soon after the horse stable (post-1857).
On his map, Watson indicated that this
structure was ‘‘pulled down” about 1894;
however, Ingram (1968) presented evi-
dence that a stable was being torn down
in 1898. Admittedly this reference could
have been to a set of cow barns also
located north of the fort.

While photographs showed the nearby
horse stable in considerable detail, the ox

stable was never more than a roof in the
distance (Figs. 8, 16). One could only see
that the two buildings were of approxi-
mately the same size and style of gabled
roof.

On the ground, a rectangle with an
east-west long axis could be seen in the
form of linear depressions with some
stone showing.

The resultant archaeological record
was of a 31 ft. by 61.5 ft. structure (Figs.
50,51). A 1.8 ft. to 3.2 ft. wide, 3 ft.
deep limestone foundation with some
granitic inclusions had been laid in a
trench which extended 2 ft. through the
gravel ridge until it reached the under-
lying black earth (Fig. 68). Because the
foundation was composed of relatively
small stones and was above the surface in
many places, it was evident that many
details of its upper surface were missing.

In ten instances it could be seen that
notches had been built into the north and
south walls to key the north-south run-
ning joists which were 0.45 ft. to 0.6 ft.
thick by 0.5 ft. to 1.0 ft. wide. These joists
appear to have had an original centre-
to-centre interval of from 2 ft. to 4 ft. and
were set on strip-like beds of sand which
were spread on the underlying gravel. In
addition, it appeared that limestone rub-
ble had been scattered between the joists.
Presumably, the sand and rubble were
designed to provide both additional
strength and better drainage for the east-
west oriented 0.1 ft. by 0.5 ft. floor
boards of which a few fragments and
patches were found.

Overlying the floor as well as the
gravel outside the stable was a layer of
manure ranging in thickness from 0.2 ft.
to 1.0 ft. Outside the foundation an accu-

mulation of burned wood, manure and
destruction rubble overlaid the thick
layer of gravel.

It is probable that this was a rubble-
filled, post-on-sill building. Watson's ref-
erence to a stone building, especially in
view of the shallow foundation and the
proximity of a sister strueture which was
also labelled stone but was clearly
rubble-filled, all points toward a similar
superstructure for the ox stable. The
notched foundation was identical to that
of the Big House annex, which was
rubble-filled construction. Near the
northeast corner, it was felt that the
impression of a sill could be seen on the
outside edge of the foundation. If that
was what the impression was, and not the
impression of a missing course of stone,
then little doubt could be entertained as
to the nature of the building’s super-
structure being rubble-filled post-on-sill.

Portable artifacts were plentiful from
the ox stable; however, deposition of
material on the floor has been possible
into the 20th century even though the
superstructure was removed in the last
quarter of the 19th century. Tin con-
tainers with post-1900 double-crimped
seams and a “D" in a diamond (1920s)
Dominion Glass trademark scattered over
all parts of the “floor’” attest to this all
too clearly. Ceramic objects had a very
wide range of dating but also included
several objects from the 20th century. Of
a total of 543 nails, 69.32 per cent were
cut, 14.36 per cent were wrought and
16.32 per cent were wire. Despite late
dumping contaminating the context and
the relatively small size of the sample, the
high percentage of cut nails fits the
general pattern for the 1860s at this site.
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52 East-west profile of the south cow barn.
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South Cow Barn

In 1967, the project excavated a building
located north of the fort enclosure which
was thought tc be a cow barn (Fig. 4;
item 26). It was identified as a cow byre
(barn) by Watson in 1928 (Fig. 2; item
108). It had been his understanding that
it was a log structure on a stone foun-
dation. There were no drawings, photo-
graphs nor documentary evidence to con
firm or disprove this proposal. He also
indicated on his map that it had been
taken down about 1887. Presumably his
information was based on oral tradition.
The building may have been built about
1857 when according to Miquelon (1970)
and Ingram (1970b), animal husbandry
was intensified with the establishment cf
farming operations at the fort. A long
narrow rectangle with a north-south long
axis could be seen on the ground in the
area indicated by Watson.

Excavations disclosed a stone foun-
dation outlining a structure 68 ft. by 16.2
ft. and patches of a 10 ft. wide lean-to
along its east wall.

Although the barn was built on the
western margin of the gravel ridge extant
in this area, the gravel on the building site
appeared to have been removed and the
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stone foundation set on the black soil
beneath (Fig. 52). The foundation was
built to a height of 2.5 ft., a width of 2
ft. to 3 ft., and consisted of random-
coursed, split-faced stone and rubble.

Dolomitic limestone boulders had
been dumped into the interior and
covered with a yellow clay fill to a total
depth of 1.85 ft. This formed a very solid
base for heavy livestock but may have
been done with insulation or even drain-
age in mind although the latter is open to
question considering the poor drainage
qualities of the clay. The surface of the
clay fill was level at the centre of the
building, although a linear depression had
formed near the outside edges which
sloped sharply upward to overlap the top
of the foundation.

There was evidence indicating a north-
south running log floor over the boulders
and clay fill. These logs were 0.5 ft. to
0.9 ft. in diameter and showed no clear
evidence of having been squared, al-
though one could not be sure that they
had not been flattened on top.

Wood fragments were found lying on
the floor but were at right angles to the
long axis of the building. This orientation
may have been spurious. Other fragments
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were found on top of the foundation
where a wall would have been; however,
they were not considered good evidence
of a log wall.

Fill consisting of dolomitic limestone
rocks and clay was found outside of the
foundations as well. Qutside of the east
foundation, the layer of rocks and clay
was banked up to the top of the foun-
dation and sloped downward rapidly
away from the building. Outside of the
west foundation about half a foot of
mixed gravel, stone and loam was piled
along the wall. This layer sloped gently
away from the building. The boulder fill
outside of the south wall was built up
almost to the top of the foundation and
sloped downward gently. Boulders
formed a level floor between this stable
and another one directly to its north.

There was some evidence for a door-
way at the north end of the building. The
north foundation had a depression in the
limestone that appeared to have been
done purposely, rather than formed as a
result of crumbling.

The lean-to had a log floor oriented at
right angles to the long axis qf the barn.
The eastern boundary of the floor con-
sisted of a north-south running timber 0.4



53 Plan of the north cow barn.
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ft. by 0.8 ft. It had no notches and
showed no evidence of having had toe-
nailed uprights. The west ends of the logs,
0.3 ft. to 0.8 ft. in diameter, were
imbedded in the clay along the outside of
the foundation and some had warped
upward, following the surface of the clay
that rose sharply to the top of the
foundation. The lean-to could be traced
for a distance of 26 ft. from the southeast
corner, after which recent bulldozer dis-
turbance had destroyed evidence of
earlier features.

As might be expected, there was con-
siderable evidence of manure on the floor-
ing of both the main structure and the
lean-to. The manure on the flooring of
the lean-to was widespread and deep,
except where fire had consumed some of
it. Members of the park staff reported
that when the area was burned off in the
spring, fires often smouldered under-
ground. This was the probable explana-
tion for burned manure found in excava-
tions of the area north of the fort
enclosure. Manure was also found in a
thin layer outside the west wall. A thick
lens of manure was found outside the
structure’s south wall. The manure indi-
cated that the building’s identification as
a barn had been a correct one. The
general lack of manure west of the barn
as well as the unexpected discovery of the
lean-to indicated that the barn opened to
the east. The main structure was probably
not open-sided since the east foundation
would have been unnecessary.

The great amount of boulder fill used
outside the main structure may have
served as an effective drainage device
since there was less clay used than with
the barn’s interior fill. Presumably, be-
cause the barn faced on the gravel ridge,
drainage of the cow lot was excellent.
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54 North cow barn showing the nature of the
log flooring.
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Portable artifacts did not occur in
what might be considered a sealed con-
text as there was apparently little or no
chinking in what was probably a log
superstructure. Had there been either a
significant amount of chinking or had the
superstructure been stone, there would
probably have been a layer of destruction
rubble sealing material under it. Ceramics
consisted of one undated object. Glass
was identified tentatively as being 20th
century, and all tin containers had post-
1900 double-crimped seams. Although
these might seem to be little reason to
look further, in a sample of 357 nails,
39.50 per cent were cut, 59.38 per cent
were wrought and 11.20 per cent were
wire, suggesting a mid-19th century date
with some later wire nails used in repairs
or included with other late refuse thrown
out in the powdery manure covering.

North Cow Barn

In 1967, a building was excavated which
was considered to be a cow barn in the
area north of the fort enclosure (Fig. 4;
item 27). This building was a companion
structure to the barn to its immediate
south and the same documentary and
pictorial evidence was available for its
location, function, construction, and
dates of building and destruction, It was
listed in 1928 by Watson as a cow byre
(Fig. 2; item 107).

Excavation revealed a somewhat long-
er structure than its companion barn.
A stone foundation was found which
outlined a building 98.6 ft. north-south
by 15.6 ft. to 15.8 ft. east-west, and
evidence also indicated a 12 ft. to 13 ft.
wide lean-to along the main structure’s
east wall (Fig. 53).

The 2.5 ft. wide by 2.35 ft. high
foundation had been constructed directly
on a black soil. The interior was filled
with boulders and then vyellow clay.

The floor of the main structure was
uncovered intact (Fig. 54). It was con-
structed of unsquared but possibly flat-
tened logs, 0.5 ft. to 1.0 ft. in diameter,
laid directly on the clay fill and parallel
to the long axis of the structure. It filled
the entire interior of the building. There
were no nails found in the logs, nor was
the recovery of nails from the fill ade-
quate to indicate that they had in any
way been associated with holding the
floor in place or of securing boards to the
logs. The floor apparently had been put
in loose with traffic expected to keep it
in place.

A similar situation relative to rubble
and clay fill outside the main structure
existed as for the south cow barn. A thin
layer of rubble, gravelly grey clay and
manure was found outside the west foun-
dation.

Within the foundation enclosure, a
boulder and grey clay fill came within 0.5
ft. of the top of the west foundation, but
considerable gravel was found mixed into
the fill. Perhaps because the profile
trench was cut near the north end, there
appeared to be fewer boulders in the fill
and much more gravel than was expected.
A gravel fill with very few boulders was
found at the north foundation and as was
described for the southern barn, a level
boulder floor filled the space between the
north and south cow barns.

Evidence for the lean-to included a log
floor with underlying joists. The 0.3 ft. to
0.7 ft. diameter flooring had been laid at
right angles to the long axis of the main

structure. The three north-south oriented
joists found consisted of 0.4 ft. to 0.6 ft.
diameter flattened timbers placed at 4.7
ft. and 2.7 ft. intervals.

The patch of remaining lean-to began
28.4 ft. south of the northeast corner of
the main structure. From this point it
extended southward for a distance of
41,5 ft. For the south end, the last
evidence of wood was very fragmentary
with nothing to suggest that the end
would have necessarily been at this point.
No direct evidence for the superstructure
was recovered.

Overburden on the floor of the main
structure consisted of a layer of manure
overlaid by a layer of mortar and lime-
stone chips. It must be assumed that the
manure is associated with the occupation
of this structure whereas the rubble above
it results from the destruction or removal
of the structure. The presence of lime-
stone even if only as small fragments,
could be taken to represent a half-
timbered wall constructed at least par-
tially of stone. It could also represent a
destroyed course of stone foundation.
For the lean-to, the lack of mortar and
rubble could be taken to mean a wall
completely, or almost completely, of
wood.

The portable artifacts were primarily
of 20th-century manufacture. Again this
parallels the situation of the southern
cow barn. The percentages of nail types
within this poor artifact situation are not
inconsistent with a mid-19th century
building at Lower Fort Garry which
stood until the 1880s. In a sample of only
184 nails, 29.30 pe: cent were cut, 69 per
cent were wrought and 1.60 per cent
were wire. These figures are similar to
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those from the south barn but are more
consistent with a construction date in the
1840s.

One could suggest that these are (1)
inadequate samples; that (2) these two
locations are more contaminated than
their immediate neighbors; that (3)
unique circumstances led to the use of
more wrought nails at the particular time
these barns were built in the 1860s, or
that (4) they were built in the 1840s. The
author would prefer either the first or
fourth choices, on the grounds of least
complexity, and of these two, would
prefer the fourth on the strength of the
two buildings’ closeness in location, func-
tion and nail percentages.

Lime House

An attempt was made in 1967 to locate a
“lime house”’ north of the fort enclosure
(Fig. 4; item 28).

In 1928, Watson (Fig. 2; item 101)
identified a structure directly north of
the ox stable as a lime storage house
which had been pulled down about 1879.
A moundlike lime deposit could be seen
in this area.

A series of test trenches revealed only
a 2.25 ft. deep, 0.9 ft. by 0.9 ft. fence
post, a 0.3 ft. by 0.1 ft. by 4 ft. long
board fragment under a 0.8 ft. thick layer
of pure lime which lensed out at the
edges of the deposit.

The lime house that was mentioned in
Watson may be nearby but this seems
unlikely. The lime concentration that we
excavated may have been a stockpile or
even a surface kiln. It seems unlikely that
a structure of any permanence had been
there.

Prison Root House

In 1967, archaeological investigation was
carried out on a structure built into the
river bank north of the fort enclosure
which was known as the “prison root
house” (Fig. 4; item 29). Its identifi-
cation as a storage house for root crops
appeared on Watson’s map (Fig. 2; item
109). If correct, this identification would
suggest that the house was probably built
shortly after 1871 and certainly before
1877, the period during which the first
provincial prison was located at the fort
(Miquelon 1970). No evidence was cited
for an end date. Nevertheless, a photo-
graph probably dating shortly after 1871
(Fig. 14) showed a gabled structure built
into the river bank with a fresh spoil pile
indicating recent construction activity. A
doorway could be seen. Observations on
the ground in 1967 revealed a deep de-
pression in this area which had been used
as a 20th-century garbage dump.

Partial excavation of this building
revealed that a dolomitic limestone build-
ing was still present in its near entirety
The gable end noted in the photograph
had been damaged; however, the walls,
floor and other gable were intact, protec-
ted by a clay fill which could have
been insulation clay from the collapsed
roof.

The structure was semi-subterranean
(Fig. 55), with outside dimensions of 17
ft. by 14 ft. The walls were 2 ft. thick
and constructed of random-coursed,
split-faced dolomitic limestone, except
where noted. The walls were finished at
the top with mortar. Gable height was at
least 9 ft., but closer determination of its
height was made difficult by a notch at
the gable peak which might have been

either intended for a ridge pole or was the
result of damage. A thin layer of bark
lined the outside of the west gable,
possibly to absorb moisture. The lateral
walls were 7 ft. high and had a 1.0 ft. by
1.0 ft. ledge running along the interior
margin at their top.

Fragments of wood with north-south
running grain were found lying on these
inward-facing ledges. Rafter heels and
joists had probably rested on this ledge.

A doorway, 2.8 ft. wide and 5.2 ft.
high, was set into the front (east) wall.
This doorway was offset from the centre
of the wall toward the southeast corner
of the structure. The section of the wall
above the doorway was 1.5 ft. thick as
opposed to 2 ft. for the rest of the front
wall and the other walls. A single rect-
angular cut sone comprised the lintel.

The flooring within the building con
sisted of east-west running planks 0.3 ft.
to 0.6 ft. wide by 0.05 ft. thick, secured
with cut nails to north-south running
joists, 0.6 ft. wide.

An entranceway with two 9 ft. long
lateral walls met the front (east) wall at
right angles on either side of the door-
way. The tops of these entrance walls
were 7 ft. high nearest their point of
contact with the door. Three feet from
the door they sloped downward for the
remainder of their length. Their level
sections near the door also had the
mortar-topped, inward-facing ledges
exhibited by the side walls of the main
structure. The inclined attitude of the
lateral walls may have been recent des-
truction, as was suggested by the absence
of mortar on the inclined surfaces. Wood
fragments were found on the ledges
which suggested that there had been a

91



“porch’” outside the doorway. This
tunnel-like entranceway had not been
built when the 1871 photograph was
taken.

Another feature outside the main.
structure was a stone-lined, semi-circular
gutter, 1.5 ft. to 2.6 ft wide by 0.3 ft.
deep, resting on the bank above the
house. This was probably intended to
divert rainwater away from the root
house. The gutter ran to a point midway
around the sides of the root house where
erosion had apparently disturbed it.

The only portable artifacts found
below the modern dump were 49 nails on
and in the floor. Only one loose nail of
this collection was wrought and the other
48 were cut. No explanation for this ratio
is offered other than that it was a small
stone, relatively late, structure. The only
nails used were in the flooring and it is
logical that one small requisition of nails
would have completed the task. Possibly
it could just as easily have been an all
wrought nail floor at that date and
circumstance. The exclusive use of cut
nails is reminiscent of the treatment of
the flooring and wall studding at the beer
cellar with a proposed date of 1871.

General Testing
Thirteen general tests were made through-

out the area south of the fort enclosure
where no buildings were specifically
documented.

Widely scattered surface refuse was
found over the whole area; however, no
structures were encountered. A 0.4 ft.
deep midden found immediately south of
the farmer’s residence was probably asso-
ciated with that structure. A small
refuse-filled depression was encountered
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200 ft. south of the southwest bastion.

A group of archaeology students from
United College under the supervision of
Mr. Jack Steinbring found that a midden
near the wall just east of the southwest
bastion was confined to a stratum of dark
soil beginning immediately under the sod
line and extending to a depth of 0.7 ft.
Material found included much “black”
bottle glass and several Selkirk, Manitoba,
post office seals (post-18707?).

This may indicate that midden
material was cast over the defense wall
during the later period of the fort. A
midden was also found in water deposits
at the bottom of the ravine and west of
the storehouse.

Four small tests were dug into the
river bank directly east of the fort en-
closure. Because of oral tradition con-
nected with the Motor Country Club
throwing “old” artifacts over the bank, it
was proposed to test the theory that this
would have been a natural midden area
throughout the site’s historic occupation,

A1l four tests showed similar strati-
graphy. A thin layer of dark soil was
underlain by a thick stratum of sandy
clay and gravel at least one foot thick.
Underlying this stratum was a clay, gravel
and soil deposit extending for an un-
known depth. Much cultural material was
recovered from the top two strata includ-
ing ceramics ranging in manufacturing
dates from 1814 to 1867. Manufacturing
date ranges for pipes were 1826 to 1907,
and a lampwick holder might have been
post-1860. Country Club material was
not present in the tests.

A series of tests was made between the
agricultural complex north of the fort
enclosure and the northern park bound-

ary. Material was not found below sod
level; however, refuse was recovered from
the surface of depressions in the area, all
of which appeared to be related to the
occupation of the site by the Motor
Country Club and later.

It would appear that although no
structures were found, middens may be
expected over the general area. Midden
material from south of the enclosure
appears to have a specific nature which
bears noting. Any ceramic material re-
covered to date was 19th century al-
though no tests were near the still stand-
ing stone cottage (1845?) which has been
occupied throughout the 20th century.
On the other hand, post-1892 crown
beverage bottles and post-1904 crown
beverage bottles made with a fully auto-
matic machine and crown caps are found
especially in the area between the cottage
and the fort walls. Containers with double
crimped seams (post-1900) were also
found, especially in the fill of slight
depressions. One cannot help but wonder
if the occurrence of late beverage and
food containers could be associated with
either the military encampment seen ina
probably pre-1911 photograph (Fig. 30)
or the large (refreshment?) tent located
south of the enclosure for the Hudson's
Bay Company 250th anniversary cele-
bration in 1920 (Fig. 47).

General 20th-century material seemed
to be more abundant north of the en-
closure, although late material of a speci-
fically refreshment and canned food
nature was found south of the fort.
Earlier material was generally found over
all, but appeared to be absent in the area
directly north of the agricultural complex
north of the fort enclosure.



Summary and Preliminary Discussion

The Department of Anthropology, Uni-
versity of Manitoba, completed three
years of archaeological field work at the
site of Lower Fort Garry National His-
toric Park, Manitoba, under contract to
the National Historic Sites Service, De-
partment of Indian Affairs and Northern
Development. Twenty-two major excava
tions, four minor excavations and numer-
ous tests were conducted during that
period. This report has been a summary
of that field work with correlation where
possible with the documentary data bear-
ing on each excavation.

Excavations oriented toward the re-
covery of structural detail have certain
special requirements and pitfalls most of
which were represented in the work done
by the project at Lower Fort Garry.
Documentation of structural detail was
often absent altogether or when present
was misleading or not very helpful. The
reader will recall that the troop barracks-
warehouse was cited as “frame” when
drawings indicated log-filled post-on-sill
(or post-in-sill) sometimes improperly
called “Red River frame.” Besides normal
frame types, it could also have meant a
type of rubble-filled post-on-sill con-
struction related to what is sometimes
called half-timber construction. The dis-
tillery on the other hand was called “log”
and Figure 36 suggests that the northeast
corner was probably post-on-sill log while
excavations had indicated that it might
possibly have been rubble-filled post-on-
sill. This is complicated by the knowledge
that the walls of the building were exten-
sively repaired in 1870 (Miquelon 1970)
and the reconstruction could have been in
a different style than the original. “Stone”
was used to describe both the horse stable

and the ox stable while other documenta-
tion, photographs and excavation proved
them to be rubble-filled post-on-sill. “Log”
is also of little aid. The term could mean
saddle notch, post-on-sill, dovetail or any
of several other variations of log con-
struction.

Use of words like “log” or “wooden”
or “stone” in documents could cover
such a wide range of superstructure types
that they are practically useless. Still,
there were accurate or otherwise helpful
documentary references to the con-
struction of specific buildings such as the
very fine one quoted with the report on
the horse stable. We would have been lost
without that description and its confirma-
tion by a photograph to offset the
“stone” description of that building by
Watson. Interpretation from archaeo-
logical evidence alone would have con-
firmed that the building was indeed of
stone since a heavy stone foundation with
no indication of wood was found. A
higher than normal floor had made it
necessary that the top of the stone
foundation which held the timber fram-
ing be built so high that subsequent
destruction removed the top course(s) of
stone along with the only evidence of
timber structural elements.

Comparative architecture was also of
utmost importance in the interpretation
of in-ground remains, although sometimes
there was simply not enough left to
clearly associate remains with a known
superstructure type, or the remains were
a variant unknown in the body of com-
parative data being used. The grain-
flailing barn and cow stables exemplified
the former. The above discussion of the
horse stable is a good example of the

latter. Sometimes comparative archi-
tecture was not advanced enough in a
specific construction detail to be of aid
during excavations, but the excavations
themselves provided the missing elements
by direct association elsewhere with de-
tails that were understood from compara-
tive material. For example, the problem
of whether sub-sill supports at Lower
Fort Garry were indicative of post-on-sill
in the same way as pier construction in
other regions was partially solved by
finding an upright mortise and tenon
joint preserved in the wall sill at the later
blacksmith shop. On the other hand, it is
known that a wooden sill and subsill
supports can be a base for a stone founda-
tion as well, so the archaeologist must
watch for evidence of this having been
the case.

The presence on the site of two
rubble-filled post-on-sill structures, one of
which was being stripped for restoration
while the project was excavating the ox
stable and malt barn, was helpful in
realizing some of the attributes concerned
with such construction even though it did
not always solve our interpretation prob-
lems for us. Much comparative work is
still needed in the examination of wall
sills and sub-sill supporting arrangements
for the several varieties of log construc-
tion. The author is still unsure about the
necessary association of sub-sill supports
with post-on-sill construction. It must
also be determined whether there can
sometimes be a log above the sill into
which the upright framing member fits,
so sometimes, as in the case of the troop
canteen, an archaeologist could expect to
find sills and sub-sill supports but no
evidence of notches to hold the upright
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timbers in place. It is possible that archae-
ologists must face the prospect that
notches for holding vertical construction
members will normally not be detectable
and instances such as the mortise and
tenon joint preserved in blacksmith shop
Il will be rare. The presence of sub-sill
support in the form of extra wood and
stone piers and extended floor joists will
be the only clues to post-on-sill construc-
tion. In general, too little has been noted
in the literature about what type of
superstructure can be interpreted from
those parts of a building which would
normally be left behind after its destruc-
tion. Many archaeologists may not be
aware that there are such clues to super-
structure. One often reads reports stating
that sills, foundations and so forth, were
found without detailing clues pointing
toward superstructure. This may be
because a carefully collected body of
comparative architectural data is not to
be found in the literature and has there-
fore apparently not been investigated by
architects interested in archaeological evi-
dence and vice versa. Some work has been
done on post-in-ground log construction
which is naturally obvious when exca-
vated and an inadequate minimum has
been done toward describing archaeo-
logical attributes distinctive of post-on-sill
construction.
, The inclusion of some information re-
garding portable artifacts based on sur-
veys of certain artifact collections by
artifact analysts has been helpful to the
author despite the briefness with which
they were dealt.

Data on ceramic objects has been
bewildering in that pre-1847 and post-
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1867 ceramics were practically non-
existent in the collections. Twentieth
century contexts which were not clearly
Motor Country Club debris, and even
some which were, still contained over-
whelming numbers of ceramic objects
manufactured between 1847 and 1867.

The glass dates have raised the clear
possibility that for this site and probably
for the last half and certainly the last
quarter of the 19th century and later,
container glass is consistently a sensitive
time indicator. On this site glass has
tended to indicate terminal and post-
occupation dates. Perhaps this is because
buildings, cellars and elaborate privies were
kept cleaned out until they finally fell
into disuse.

The nail percentages for the buildings
have been surprising for at least two
reasons. Priess has pointed out (1969)
that there has been a trend in archaeology
toward the acceptance of what he termed
“the 1800 fallacy,”” that is, the belief that
cut nails had replaced wrought nails for
construction purposes by 1800. Archaeo-
logists who have accepted this idea will be
shocked at the figures presented in this
report. Hopefully Priess will be able to
develop the Lower Fort Garry sequence
and determine whether the late persis-
tence of wrought nails in quantity at this
site was a matter of its relative isolation
or whether it has wider implications.
Also, the author was pleasantly surprised
to discover that despite the vagueness of
the 19th-century nail sequence as seen at
Lower Fort Garry, it is still somewhat
predictable even when other categories of
artifacts have become discouragingly late
or indistinct.

On the basis of the preliminary survey
of portable artifacts recovered, it is the
author’s opinion that the project did not
recover material clearly representative of
the 1831 to 1845 period. A few stray
specimens of dated ceramics, however,
were from that period and the nail sample
from the early blacksmith shop was
probably from that period as well. Al-
though the overwhelming majority of
ceramics recovered was manufactured in
the 1847 to 1867 period, almost all layers
excavated to date were probably laid
down since 1860, as clearly indicated by
both the history of the site and the
presence of late glass containers. The
conclusion then must be that the building
remains themselves and the nails which
held the buildings together are the only
clear representation of the 1831 to 1860
period the project has recovered to date.

The late discard of earlier ceramic
objects may at least indicate what cer-
amics were brought to the site sometime
between 1847 and 1867. Where is the
earlier material? Not in the buildings
because they were kept cleaned out until
they fell into disuse. The middens and
standard privies of the period, not the
buildings, will contain the trash of the
period. It was not until the late 1870s that
buildings excepting the early blacksmith
shop began to be razed and portable
artifacts began accumulating on and in
them. Indeed, with detailed artifact re-
ports, it may even become clear that the
early blacksmith shop was the only
general artifact context which is clearly
and uncontaminatedly pre-1883.
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